

Evolutionary Psychiatry

Randolph M. Nesse and Dan J. Stein

Nesse, R. M., & Stein, D. J. (2023). Evolutionary Psychiatry. In A. Tasman, M. B. Riba, R. D. Alarcón, C. A. Alfonso, S. Kanba, D. M. Ndetei, C. H. Ng, T. G. Schulze, & D. Lecic-Tosevski (Eds.), Tasman's Psychiatry (pp. 1–42). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42825-9_71-1

Contents

Introduction	2
Core Evolutionary Principles and Some Key Misconceptions	4
Progress in Applying Evolutionary Principles in Psychiatry	6
Evolutionary and Proximate Explanations Anxiety: Four Kinds of Explanation Reward Mechanisms: Four Kinds of Explanation Attachment: Four Kinds of Explanation	7 8 10 12
Evolutionary Medicine: Why Does Vulnerability to Disease Persist?	14 14 16 17
Conceptualizing and Explaining Mental Disorder	18
Key Points About Emotions and Their Disorders Five Reasons Why Aversive Emotions Are Usually Normal but Useless Why Regulation Mechanisms Are Vulnerable to Failure	19 20 21
Assessing Individual Lives	24
Relationship Benefits and Vicissitudes	25
Explaining the Persistence of Genes That Cause Disorders	26
Practical Implications	29
Conclusion	31
References	31

R. M. Nesse (⊠) University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA e-mail: nesse@umich.edu

D. J. Stein University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: dan.stein@uct.ac.za

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 A. Tasman et al. (eds.), *Tasman's Psychiatry*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42825-9_71-1

Abstract

Evolutionary biology is now the foundation for scientific studies of behavior and emotion, but it is only starting to be applied in psychiatry. It asks new questions that provide a framework for integrating otherwise separate perspectives. The first two questions are about the evolutionary history of a trait and how it gives selective advantages. Answers provide evolutionary explanations of behavior and emotions that synergize with explanations that describe mechanisms and ontogeny. A third question asks why natural selection left us with traits that make us vulnerable to disease. In addition to mutations and environmental exposures. evolutionary psychiatry considers mismatch with modern environments, tradeoffs, and traits that increase gene transmission at the cost of host health. Answers to this question encourage a medical approach to aversive emotions as useful responses. Evolutionary psychiatry is not a method of treatment, but the basic science it brings to psychiatry has practical applications for clinical care, research, and public health that can increase psychiatry's effectiveness and its recognition as a medical specialty.

Keywords

Evolutionary biology · Natural selection · Adaptation · Maladaptation · Evolutionary medicine · Evolutionary psychology · Evolutionary psychiatry · Fitness · Emotions · Genetics · Biopsychosocial model · Tinbergen · Ethology

Introduction

Medical curricula largely focus on the anatomy, physiology, and biochemistry of bodily function and pathology, including the neuroanatomy, neurophysiology, and neurochemistry of brain and mental function and pathology. Evolutionary biology adds a focus on natural selection that provides additional insights about the functions of physical and mental traits and why some are vulnerable to malfunction. This chapter argues that evolutionary biology provides a foundation for an integrative framework that brings together otherwise disjunct aspects of psychiatry. The chapter begins by describing why an integrative framework in psychiatry is needed and three features of evolutionary psychiatry that can help connect otherwise disparate aspects of the field.

Psychiatry in the twentieth century was characterized by different "schools" that provided contrasting theoretical frameworks for understanding the pathogenesis of mental disorders, each emphasizing different mechanisms (Luhrmann, 2000). Perhaps the most divergent were psychoanalysis and biological psychiatry, with their very different models of pathogenesis and strategies for treatment. Lack of an integrative framework generated much unproductive controversy. While a "biopsychosocial" approach has long been advocated, it has not had sufficient granularity to synthesize contemporary biological, psychological, and social knowledge about mental disorders (Ghaemi, 2010).

Clinical neuroscience emphasizes the neuroanatomical, neurophysiological, and neurochemical mechanisms involved in mental disorders. It has several attractive features that make it the main focus of academic psychiatry (Insel & Quirion, 2005). The Research Domain Criteria (RDoC), for example, provides a scaffolding for organizing information and directing translational neuroscience research on mental disorders (Insel et al., 2010). Translational neuroscience has, in turn, used laboratory findings about fear conditioning and extinction, for example, to provide insights into the psychobiology of human anxiety (Ressler, 2020).

Nevertheless, biological psychiatry has often disappointed. Despite huge progress in understanding how brains work, specific brain abnormalities that cause specific mental disorders have yet to be found (Weinberger & Radulescu, 2016). This has left DSM diagnostic categories in limbo, useful in the clinic and epidemiology, but abandoned by neuroscience researchers who continue to search for brain pathologies that they hope will define mental disorders (Akil et al., 2010). Global mental researchers have emphasized the persistence of the treatment gap for mental disorders and the need for new approaches (Susser & Patel, 2014).

The principles of evolutionary biology are not new; they have provided a foundation for studies of animal behavior ever since they transformed that field 60 years ago (Alcock & Sherman, 2010). The advance was made possible by recognition that a full biological explanation requires answers to both proximate questions about mechanisms and evolutionary questions about origins and functions (Mayr, 1993). Instead of asking only about how mechanisms worked, scientist also began asking how behaviors influence Darwinian fitness. For instance, scientists had long known that seagulls carry egg fragments away from the nest (the mechanism), but it took experiments by the Nobelist Nikolaas Tinbergen to demonstrate that this behavior decreased predation of chicks by other birds (the adaptive function).

Evolutionary medicine grew from recognition that a comprehensive explanation of clinical symptoms and disorders requires both mechanistic (or proximal) and evolutionary (or distal) kinds of explanation (Nesse & Williams, 1994; Williams & Nesse, 1991). For instance, a full explanation for the cough reflex requires describing not only the medullary cough center and its connections via the phrenic nerve to the diaphragm but also how the cough reflex gives a selective advantage. Physicians know that individuals whose cough reflex is absent or suppressed are vulnerable to pneumonia. This has practical implications in the clinic; cough suppressants should only be prescribed after the underlying mechanistic cause has been determined.

A first key feature of evolutionary medicine and psychiatry, then, is the value of integrating mechanistic and evolutionary explanations. In psychiatry, for example, a full explanation of anxiety symptoms requires understanding not only the frontal-amygdala circuitry involved in fear conditioning and extinction but also how anxiety responses provide a selective advantage (Marks & Nesse, 1994; Stein & Bouwer, 1997). Why this is crucial for a comprehensive evaluation of a patient with anxiety and how it can help in formulating a treatment plan will be discussed later in the chapter.

A second key feature of evolutionary medicine is recognition that it is a mistake to seek evolutionary explanations for diseases, but sensible and important to ask why natural selection left us with so many traits that make us vulnerable to disease (Gluckman et al., 2009; Griffiths & Matthewson, 2018; Nesse, 2011; Stearns & Medzhitov, 2016). Why is the birth canal narrow? Why do wisdom teeth persist? Why does low mood exist? Why do neurogenetic variations that contribute to schizophrenia and autism persist? Some answers to such questions will be discussed in a later section.

A third key feature of evolutionary medicine and psychiatry is that its underlying framework is based on well-established biology. It proceeds using the standard scientific approach of using theory to pose viable hypotheses and discarding those that are inconsistent with data. Novel approaches in many areas of psychiatry have been prone to overenthusiasm about speculative hypotheses (Buller, 2005), but the fields of ethology and behavioral ecology have developed sophisticated methods for framing and testing hypotheses about evolution and behavior (Alcock, 2013; Confer et al., 2010; Mace et al., 2003), as has evolutionary medicine (Nesse, 2011).

It is noteworthy that these three key features of evolutionary medicine and psychiatry not only provide an integrative framework for psychiatry but also facilitate the integration of psychiatry with the rest of medicine. The same key principles are used to approach both somatic and mental symptoms and disorders. Each requires the integration of several different kinds of explanation, each of which benefits from a conceptual framework for approaching symptoms and disorders that is based on understanding our vulnerability to disease, and each advances by using both theory-derived hypotheses and empirical investigation.

This chapter provides an overview of the new field of evolutionary psychiatry, emphasizing how it provides an integrative framework for psychiatry that is both scientifically robust and clinically useful. The chapter begins by summarizing some relevant core evolutionary principles and some common misconceptions.

Core Evolutionary Principles and Some Key Misconceptions

Darwin made two related but distinct discoveries. The first is that all organisms have common ancestors. This single phylogeny for all of life explains why the mechanisms underlying behavior, cognition, and emotion are similar across diverse species. For instance, the dopaminergic neurotransmitter system is central to rodent and human motivation. It evolved from the closely related octopamine system which regulates mollusk and worm behavior. While such similarities are profound, there are also crucial differences. Human and chimpanzee DNA overlap by more than 98%, but small genetic differences create brains with major architectural differences. Translational neuroscience is premised on overlap in mechanisms, but such differences also impose limitations, such as the difficulty in establishing valid animal models of schizophrenia.

Darwin's second discovery was natural selection and how it shapes traits well suited to their functions (Bergstrom & Dugatkin, 2012; Dunbar, 2020). His observations of pigeon breeding made it clear that a species could change drastically over just a few generations. On his voyage to the Galapagos Islands, he observed that different bird species have shapes and sizes of beaks well suited to their different food sources. Years later, back in England, he realized that the environment could make selections similar to those made by breeders, thus shaping traits that make a species well adapted to its environment. His profound insight, shared by Wallace, was that variations among individuals within a species could influence numbers of offspring and this would, over generations, change the species. This is natural selection. It a process that occurs necessarily whenever heritable traits influence reproductive success. Across generations, it makes the average member of a species more like the individuals who have the most offspring.

In retrospect, it is remarkable that natural selection was not recognized clearly long before Darwin and Wallace. The human tendency to think of all members of a species as if they are identical posed, and still poses, major difficulties for grasping natural selection (Barnes et al., 2017). The inability of human intuition to grasp durations of millions of years poses additional difficulty. Finally, there is the apparent miracle of natural selection's products. When we consider how unicellular organisms evolved into multicellular organisms with specialized cells, and how this in turn led to an eye that can see and a brain that can learn, we can only gasp in astonishment at the grandeur that natural selection has created. Some traits, such as human capacities for memory and speech, are so extraordinary that many people find an evolutionary explanation hard to grasp. Many traits seem to be designed or products of some plan unfolding with a culminating goal, such as the emergence of humans. But genetic variations are random, selection is mindless, and the process of evolution has no set sequence or endpoint. It continues wherever genetic variations influence Darwinian fitness, that is, wherever there is life.

The tendency to teach evolution as sequences of traits or species ever-better adapted to their environments makes it seems as if the process is mostly about change, but selection far more often acts to keep traits the same. Cactus finches with beaks longer or shorter than average will get less food and have fewer chicks than average, thus stabilizing the trait in a middle range. Likewise, birds and humans with too much or too little anxiety will have fewer offspring than average, thus stabilizing anxiety in a middle range.

Could extreme vigilance in a few individuals be selected for because groups with a few such individuals do better than other groups? Only if those individuals have as many offspring as others in the group. If they have fewer, then their genes and individuals with extreme vigilance will become less frequent in every generation, even if their presence would benefit the group. Group selection can maintain the frequency of alleles that decrease individual fitness only in extremely limited circumstances.

The phrase "survival of the fittest" also fosters misconceptions. How long an individual survives is of no consequence in evolution except insofar as it influences reproduction. An individual who produces four surviving offspring and then dies at age 30 contributes more to the gene pool than one who has two offspring and lives until 90. A gene or trait that increases reproduction will be selected for even if it causes suffering, increases the risk of disease, or shortens life. For instance, some genes that cause aging are selected for because they increase vigor and reproduction early in life that increases fitness more than the costs of a shorter life reduce fitness (Austad & Hoffman, 2018). That said, it is noteworthy that Homo sapiens are the only primates to live far beyond menopause, suggesting that grandparenting provides grandchildren with selective advantages, although the evidence for this is conflicting (Takahashi et al., 2017).

The lifespan for men is about 7 years shorter than that for women on average. Proximate explanations include more risky behavior and inflammation. But the evolutionary explanation is, in part, because men can have far more widely varying numbers of children than women, so investment in competition for mates gives big reproductive payoffs to a few men of a sort that are not available to women (Kruger & Nesse, 2006). This hypothesis is tested by the comparative method and data that confirm the prediction that differences in lifespan should be proportional to the intensity of male competition for males.

Anxiety is a tremendously useful adaptation, but as emphasized later, it necessarily entails suffering from false alarms. Consequently, anxiety disorders are the most prevalent of the mental disorders (Kessler et al., 2009), and they contribute substantially to the global burden of disease (Whiteford et al., 2013). Freud early on spoke about "ordinary suffering"; evolutionary biology provides a scientific framework for fully appreciating that natural selection does not give a fig about our happiness; it shapes capacities for pain and suffering because they increase Darwinian fitness (Buss, 2000; Nesse, 2004b), an insight with profound clinical implications. It may also, according to a recent suggestion, have shaped tendencies to avoid using suicide to avoid pain (Soper, 2019).

Many people have the notion that evolution is over for humans because most people who are born are now able to live to adulthood and to reproduce. Decreased child mortality has drastically reduced the force of selection, but evolution will continue so long as individuals with certain genes and traits have more children than others. A few people are not interested in sex, and others just do not want to have children. Genetic variations that contribute to such tendencies will be eliminated in just a few generations.

The notion persists that behavior is somehow different from other traits or that learning is an alternative to evolutionary explanations. However, learning and other behavior regulation mechanisms are shaped by natural selection, just like all other traits. More exactly, selection shapes brain systems that monitor and interact with environments to give rise to behaviors that maximize inclusive fitness. Learning, memory, and emotions are such systems. An evolutionary view implies neither that behavior is rigidly determined nor that all individuals are identical. Instead, natural selection shapes systems that integrate data from external and internal environments with the individual's social situation and strategies to give rise to extraordinarily flexible and sophisticated actions. The idea that evolutionary perspectives imply some kind of "genetic determinism" is simply a mistake. On the contrary, evolutionary biology provides an integrative framework for fully understanding the flexibility of individual behavior and the importance of both genetic (nature) and social (nurture) determinants in shaping such behavior.

The word "fitness" generates confusion. Physical fitness is relevant, but "Darwinian fitness" means the number of surviving and reproducing offspring and relatives as compared to others in the group. Why mention relatives? Because of kin selection. William Hamilton recognized in the 1960s that a genetic variation that decreases an individual's reproduction could nonetheless be selected for if it sufficiently increases the reproduction of relatives (Hamilton, 1964). His famous formula $C < B \times r$ says that an individual should do something that harms its own fitness but benefits kin whenever the cost "C" to the actor is less than benefit "B" to kin who share "r" proportion of genes with the actor. In the apocryphal example, it is not worth sacrificing one's life for one's brother (r = 1/2), but the sacrifice is worthwhile to save the lives of eight cousins ($r = 1/8 \times 8$). This principle of "kin selection" revolutionized the study of social behavior and provides a missing scientific framework for understanding family dynamics. The term "inclusive fitness" includes both the direct fitness from an individual's reproduction and indirect fitness from the reproduction of kin who share genes that are identical by descent.

Herbert Spencer's phrase "survival of the fittest" unfortunately inspired "social Darwinism," the idea that groups benefit from competition that "weeds out" weaker individuals (Ruse, 2017). Such thinking was used to support laissez-faire capitalism, eugenics, and genocide. To counter this sort of misconception, it is helpful to think instead about "survival of the best nurtured" (Cozolino, 2014; Lakoff & Johnson, 2010). This phrase helps emphasize how natural selection shapes phenomena such as attachment and kin altruism; it may be useful in the clinic in discussing relationships and how to negotiate them.

The bottom line is that natural selection shapes brains in ways that make inevitable a powerful general principle: Organisms tend to act in ways that maximize transmission of their genes to future generations (Alcock, 2001; Buss, 2015; Krebs & Davies, 1993; McGuire et al., 1981; Westneat & Fox, 2010; Williams, 1966). This is the null hypothesis for studies of behavior. Behaviors and traits that do not maximize inclusive fitness need special explanation, usually in terms of individual pathology, exposure to an evolutionarily novel environment, or benefits to gene transmission. As the chapter proceeds, the implications of this general principle for psychiatry will be increasingly drawn out.

Progress in Applying Evolutionary Principles in Psychiatry

The utility of evolutionary principles for psychiatry was recognized by Charles Darwin. For instance, he noted that "Pain or suffering of any kind, if long continued, causes depression and lessens the power of action; yet it is well adapted to make a creature guard itself against any great or sudden evil (Darwin & Darwin, 1887, pp. 51–52)."

In the early years of the twentieth century, Darwin's discoveries were little appreciated because of the limitations of his blending theory of inheritance and excessive respect for physicist Lord Kelvin's conclusion that the earth could not be more than a few thousand years old because its heat would have radiated away. In this context, evolutionary insights relevant to medicine sputtered in the first half of the twentieth century, with various speculations about supposed "degeneration" (Zampieri, 2009). By midcentury, the modern synthesis with genetics inspired the rapid growth of evolutionary biology, and in the final third of the century, evolutionary principles became the accepted foundation for studies of animal behavior and emotion.

Some of the earliest and most influential work relevant to evolutionary psychiatry was that of Harry Harlow. He demonstrated that monkey infants were more motivated to cling to a mother substitute than to a source of milk, and he described how maternal separation led to aberrations in infant behavior (Harlow & Harlow, 1962). John Bowlby's work on the adaptive functions of attachment, inspired by his conversations with Konrad Lorenz, further elaborated on how variations in maternal-infant attachment had sustained effects on an individual's behavior (Bowlby, 1969).

Work by the British psychiatrist John Price on how mood states help chickens and vervet monkeys negotiate status hierarchies (Price, 1967) inspired much subsequent work, including reanalysis of data from the famous Islington studies by Brown and Harris showing that life events involving status loss are, as predicted, especially prone to precipitate depression (Finlay-Jones & Brown, 1981). Michael McGuire, a UCLA psychiatrist, laid the groundwork for evolutionary psychiatry with his early publications (McGuire, 1976; McGuire & Fairbanks, 1977) and his editorship of the journal Ethology and Sociobiology, now titled Evolution and Human Behavior. Other psychiatrists were soon applying evolutionary principles to psychiatry more generally (Abed, 2000; Konner, 1983; MacLean, 1985; McGuire et al., 1992; McGuire & Fairbanks, 1977; McGuire & Troisi, 1987; Nesse, 1984; Stein, 2006b; Wenegrat, 1984).

The fast growth of evolutionary psychology has also provided insights relevant to mental disorders (Barkow et al., 1992; Buss, 1995; Cosmides & Tooby, 1987; Daly & Wilson, 1983; Kennair et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2000; Dominic Murphy & Stich, 2011; Shackelford & Zeigler-Hill, 2017; Siegert & Ward, 2002; Syme & Hagen, 2020). Especially important are advances in understanding emotions and mating strategies and the origins of human cooperation.

The development of evolutionary medicine in the 1990s encouraged explicit analysis of why natural selection left organisms vulnerable to diseases. It has flourished since the turn of the millennium, with courses on the topic now offered in most universities (Grunspan et al., 2019), a new scientific society and journal, and many books documenting progress (Alvergne et al., 2016; Brüne & Schiefenhövel, 2019; Gluckman et al., 2009; Nesse & Williams, 1994; Painter et al., 2021; Perlman, 2013; Schulkin & Power, 2019; Stearns & Medzhitov, 2016; Williams & Nesse, 1991). Many early attempts incorrectly interpreted diseases as adaptations and speculated about how they offered selective advantages. Now widely recognized as a mistake, this approach has been mostly replaced by efforts to find evolutionary explanations for traits that make us vulnerable to mental disorders.

Evolutionary approaches to neuroscience were developing somewhat separately. While Maclean's concept of the triune brain has not proved enduring (MacLean, 1990), it was inspiring to many. Panksepp offered a more comprehensive view of how brain evolution influenced and was influenced by fitness (Panksepp, 1998). Michael Gazzaniga and Paul MacLean emphasized the value of evolutionary insights for neuroscience (Cory, 2002; Gazzaniga, 1992), and evolutionary neuroscience is now a thriving field (Kaas, 2020; Shepherd, 2017; Striedter, 2020). The lead from these and other scientists has inspired much more work than can be mentioned here. Even taken together, however, all efforts to date are only a bare beginning of the project to understand the brain and behavior in evolutionary terms.

A decade ago, a group of noted experts proposed that evolutionary biology offered a solution to "the crisis of psychiatry" (Brüne et al., 2012). In subsequent years, explicit efforts to develop evolutionary psychiatry have proceeded rapidly, with several international meetings, scores of articles, and many new books (Abrams, 2020; Baron-Cohen, 1997; Brüne, 2015; Gilbert & Bailey, 2000; Nesse, 2019a, 2023; Shackelford & Zeigler-Hill, 2017), and a Royal College of Psychiatry Evolutionary Psychiatry Special Interest Group (EPSIG.org) on the topic has more than 1500 members (Abed & St John-Smith, 2016).

The first major edited volume on evolutionary psychiatry was published recently (Abed & St. John Smith, 2022). Despite this progress, and calls for education (Abed et al., 2019), no psychiatry training program yet provides education in depth about evolution and behavior, and major research agencies are still putting almost all their resources into proximate research.

Evolutionary psychiatry is still in its infancy, so this chapter cannot provide an overview of an established field. Instead, it offers an invitation to join in the effort to discover how evolutionary principles can help us understand mental disorders. The eventual goal is better prevention and treatment, but evolutionary psychiatry is not a method of treatment; rather, it brings the scientific foundation for all of biology to bear on the challenge of understanding mental disorders.

Evolutionary and Proximate Explanations

Animal behavior research was revolutionized in the middle of the twentieth century when scientists started asking a new question. Instead of trying only to describe behavior and its mediating mechanisms, they began also asking how traits give selective advantages that shaped them. Recognition that all traits need both mechanistic (proximal) and evolutionary (distal or ultimate) explanations is now universal, and most animal behavior textbooks are advertised as providing "an evolutionary approach" (Alcock, 2013; Dugatkin, 1997). Psychology textbooks increasingly have major sections on evolutionary approaches, and courses on evolutionary psychology are now widely available. The developing knowledge in these fields is ripe for application in psychiatry. It offers insights about specific disorders and ways to settle some long-standing controversies, but most importantly, it provides an integrative framework for a biopsychosocial model that grounds biological psychiatry in both halves of biology.

Ernst Mayr showed that both proximate and evolutionary questions are needed for a biological explanation (Mayr, 1961). Nikolaas Tinbergen, the father of modern ethology, expanded the dichotomy by suggesting that a complete understanding of any biological trait requires answers to four questions; see Table 1 (Tinbergen, 1963). Darwin's two discoveries form the basis for the two evolutionary questions: What is the evolutionary history of the trait across species? How has the trait influenced fitness? The other two questions are "proximate" ones, asking how mechanisms work and how they develop ontogenetically. This is consistent with calls from philosophers since Aristotle for a range of causal explanations; contemporary philosophers of psychiatry have similarly stressed the importance of explanatory pluralism (Ghaemi, 2010; Stein, 2011; Kendler, 2012). Answers to all four of Tinbergen's questions are needed for a full explanation (Brüne, 2014; Natterson-Horowitz, 2019; Nesse, 2019b; Pfaff et al., 2019; Tinbergen, 1963). Schools of psychiatry have tended to focus on one or another kind of explanation, generating much useless controversy. Considering all four together offers an integrative framework. The four kinds of explanation can be organized into a 2×2 table (Nesse, 2013).

Anxiety: Four Kinds of Explanation

Mechanistic Explanations

Anxiety needs to be considered from all four perspectives (Bateson et al., 2011; Nesse, 1999; Price, 2013; Stein & Bouwer, 1997; Willers et al., 2013). Proximate explanations of brain mechanisms are well advanced. The responsible brain mechanisms have been described in detail by contemporary biological psychiatry studies of neuroanatomy and neurochemistry. Those studies often describe specific loci and neurotransmitters as having specific functions. For instance, the amygdala is sometimes described as the anxiety center, but it has many other functions, and anxiety is mediated by activity in many other pathways. The tendency to view the body as if it was a designed machine with specific parts that have specific functions has been described as "tacit creationism" (Nesse, 2020).

While biologists may hanker after finding a periodic table which provides necessary and sufficient criteria to define traits and differentiate them based on their underlying structures, the fuzziness of behavioral traits and the complexity of biological mechanisms mean that no such table is possible. If brains had been designed, they would have, like machines, discrete parts each with a specific function. But such tacit creationism fails to grasp the fundamental differences between designed and organic complexity. For instance, while the amygdala and serotonin play an important role in fear conditioning, the amygdala is involved in a range of different affects, and the serotonergic system influences a range of different processes, including sleep maintenance, vascular tone, and mood regulation. Different emotions correspond, not to different adaptive functions, but rather to different situations in which their multiple overlapping aspects are useful.

Fabl	le 1	ŀ	our	kind	s of	exp	lanation	is in	bio	logy	(N	vesse,	20)]	13,	2	01	9	b)
------	------	---	-----	------	------	-----	----------	-------	-----	------	----	--------	----	----	-----	---	----	---	----

	Static (synchronic)	Dynamic (diachronic)					
Proximate explanation	Mechanism (causation)	Ontogeny (development)					
(mechanism)	How the trait works	How the trait develops in an individual					
Evolutionary explanation	Adaptive value (function)	Phylogeny (evolution)					
(distal or ultimate)	How the trait influences fitness	How the trait evolved					

Developmental Explanations

The ontogenetic development of anxiety mechanisms in individuals has also been well described at levels from brain to behavior. Normal human infants have separation anxiety and stranger anxiety, children have phobias of small animals, and adolescents develop social anxiety (Beesdo et al., 2009); natural selection has made different sorts of threats especially pertinent at different ages.

Ontogenetic explanations of anxiety mechanisms are clearly relevant to psychiatry. They help explain why different anxiety symptoms develop at different ages and provide insight into explaining what occurs when there are key traumatic events at different ages. It is known from the original work of Harlow on non-human primates and from studies in Romania of orphans, for example, that there are major neurodevelopmental sequelae of disrupted early attachment (Pine, 2007). And extensive studies have shown that certain stimuli, such as snakes, are preprogrammed to arouse anxiety after social learning.

Phylogenetic Explanations

Phylogenetically, avoidance of threat is seen across a wide range of species going all the way back to single-celled organisms. In the sea snail *Aplysia*, repeated exposure to danger results in faster withdrawal (Carew et al., 1983). Commonalities of mechanisms across phyla reflect their common origins and common challenges; differences result from natural selection and genetic drift. Eric Kandel received a Nobel Prize for his studies of the molecular basis of fear sensitization in *Aplysia*, work that remains relevant to understanding anxiety disorders (Kandel et al., 2000).

Anxiety is an evolved response that is similar in a wide range of species, where it plays a key role in threat avoidance (LeDoux, 2012b). Darwin's initial work on the expression of emotions across species remains inspirational (Darwin, 1998; Ekman, 2003). It also provides an important foundation for a great deal of work in contemporary psychobiology, for example, the use of standardized facial expression analysis in neuroimaging work (Ekman & Friesen, 1986). However, one must be cautious in the interpretation of laboratory data and wary of overly simplifying this complex emotion (LeDoux, 2012a).

Explanations Based on a Trait's Adaptive Significance

The adaptive value of anxiety is generally recognized, but an evolutionary perspective provokes many questions (Bateson et al., 2011; Kennair, 2007; Marks & Nesse, 1994; Stein & Bouwer, 1997). Has natural selection shaped distinct varieties of anxiety to cope with different kinds of dangers? How are they related to each other? To what extent is each kind of fear innate or a product of prepared learning, social learning, or personal experience? Do individuals with more anxiety better avoid dangers? What price do their inhibitions impose? What about individuals with less anxiety than average? Do some have so little that they have a pathological condition of "hypophobia" that harms their fitness?

The smoke detector principle provides one of several evolutionary explanations for the prevalence of excess anxiety arising from normal brain mechanisms (Nesse, 2005c). Just as the annoyance from false alarms is a small price to pay for the benefit of early warning of any real fire, unnecessary anxiety can also be well worth it to protect against small risk of a big danger. Explaining this smoke detector principle is useful in the clinic. For some patients, the explanation provides a cure; for others, it provides a basis for encouraging exposure to perceived threats, in line with the principles of cognitive-behavioral therapy (Stein, 2006a). The subsequent section on emotions describes four other reasons why useless emotions are often normal.

Clinical Implications

Addressing all of Tinbergen's questions has several clinical implications. First, given the adaptive value of avoiding dangers, we can expect that anxiety will be one of the most common complaints in the clinic. The smoke detector principle formalizes this point and explains the prevalence of false alarms. Second, because anxiety is necessarily aversive; we can expect that people with anxiety will suffer enormous distress and physiological changes that motivate and make possible rapid escape. The prevalence and aversiveness of such alarms help to explain why anxiety makes such a huge contribution to the global burden of disease. Third, given that different threats emerge during the life course, we can expect to see different sorts of anxiety at different life stages. A good clinician will be aware of this and will adapt screening questions and clinical foci accordingly. Fourth, given that fear modulation is governed by similar mechanisms across species and is an important adaptation, we can expect that molecules that target these mechanisms exist and that they are useful for anxiolysis across many species, justifying translational neuroscience approaches. Indeed, GABAergic anxiolytic mechanisms exist across species, and benzodiazepines that bind to these receptors diminish anxiety in many. Dampening the anxiety system offers clinical advantages (fewer false alarms) along with matching disadvantages (decreased protection, etc.). Fifth, in evaluating the anxious patient, it is important to understand both real and perceived threats and to evaluate the individual's resources for addressing anxiety. Treatment may involve not only judicious use of anxiolytic agents but also strengthening of internal and external resources for successfully facing and coping with dangers and the anxiety they arouse. Relatedly, in treating the anxious patient, we should be thinking about maintaining appropriate anxiety rather than entirely removing anxiety.

Reward Mechanisms: Four Kinds of Explanation

Systems that regulate getting resources cause as many problems as those that protect against losses. Excesses mediate addiction and gambling, deficiencies mediate depression, and dysregulation causes bipolar disorder. Integrating all four kinds of explanation can help to resolve otherwise intractable controversies.

Mechanistic Explanations

The proximal causal mechanisms underlying reward have been studied in great detail (Volkow, Koob, Baler chapter). James Olds showed that rats prefer stimulation of the nucleus accumbens to receiving food (Olds, 1958). Stimuli associated with reward become more salient, thanks to increased activity of dopaminergic neurons in cortico-amygdala-striatum circuits (Kringelbach & Berridge, 2016). Exposure to such stimuli arouses "wanting" and pursuit of the reward; these mechanisms mediate addiction. Reward consumption arouses the hedonic response of "liking" (Berridge, 1996); this response is conspicuously absent in depressed patients with anhedonia. Notably, these circuits are aroused mainly not by the magnitude of reward, but rather by its size relative to expectations and by its value in the context of needs and other opportunities and threats (Carver & Scheier, 1990). Classically, the "marshmallow test" has been thought to assess impulse control in children; but choosing a smaller reward available sooner is adaptive for individuals in environments with erratic rewards or shortened lifespan; this may explain the tendency of children with a history of socioeconomic adversity to choose a smaller faster reward. Reward mechanisms are extraordinarily sophisticated fitness maximizers, but they leave us on a "hedonic treadmill" where satisfaction is soon displaced by new desires, increasing vulnerability to addiction (Diener et al., 2006; Nesse & Berridge, 1997).

Developmental Explanations

Ontogenetically, different stimuli are rewarding at different ages. Early in life, it is important that infants find milk rewarding and that they do whatever they can to engage their mothers. In mid-childhood, social cues become salient and sought after. With adolescence, the pursuit of sex and status becomes dominant so risk-taking gives greater benefits (Natterson-Horowitz & Bowers, 2019). In adulthood, the simultaneous pursuit of status, occupation, childcare, abilities, income, and love arouses inevitable stresses and conflicts. These shifts in motivational states make sense as

strategies for maximizing fitness at different stages of life. Individuals whose brains change appropriately at different stages get selective advantages (Bjorklund & Pellegrini, 2002).

Phylogenetic Explanations

Phylogenetically, reward systems are similar across species. This explains the value of rodent models in studying the neurobiology of substance use disorders; rodents and humans both respond to sugar with hedonia (liking) and to dopaminergic agents with salience motivation (wanting) (Berridge, 1996). It turns out that these mechanisms mediate substance use in some animals in the wild (Ahmed, 2018; Dudley, 2002; Hill & Newlin, 2002; Sullivan & Hagen, 2002; van Staaden et al., 2018). The commonalities among motivational systems across species are remarkable. The central role of octopamine and its successor dopamine has endured over hundreds of millions of years, with pathways gradually modified to maximize fitness in each species.

Explanations Based on a Trait's Adaptive Significance

The adaptive value of reward systems is clear: to induce behavior that finds and gets resources such as food, shelter, health, knowledge, status, mates, and offspring. Time and effort are limited, so the system must adjust the effort and timing of pursuing conflicting needs and opportunities, all while considering possible risks. The classic approachavoidance experiments that require rats to risk shock to get food have explored these tradeoffs in detail. In the clinic, the conflict between pursing major goals and associated risks, such as demanding a promotion at the risk of losing a job, often causes clinical symptoms. At the same time, work on providing reward to fear-conditioned animals was instrumental in developing some of the earliest techniques of behavioral therapy (Wolpe, 1961).

Mechanisms that regulate foraging strategies are particularly important. How long should an individual stay at this bush or patch before looking for another one? It depends on how long it takes to find a new bush and the current (and declining) rate of return at the current patch. Eric Charnov's marginal value theorem describes the optimal strategy: start looking for a new patch when the current rate of return declines below the average rate of return across many patches (Charnov, 1976). The same mechanisms regulate the rhythms of our daily lives, resulting in bouts of activity that tend to average between 1 and 2 h. Individuals within a species may, however, have different thresholds for moving to a new patch. As with every trait, pathology can result from too much or too little. ADHD is characterized by jumping too fast to the next task; those who tend to persist too long at the current task also have a disorder. Dopaminergic drugs that increase persistence are helpful for ADHD.

The reward motivation system adjusts an individual's effort and risk-taking depending on the propitiousness of current situation. In propitious situations that offer big rewards with little effort, the system shifts to high mood to take full advantage of what may be a temporary opportunity. In unpropitious situations, however, low mood inhibits efforts that would waste calories and incur risks. Recognizing the utility of low mood is a major missing foundation for understanding depression (Carver & Scheier, 1990; Klinger, 1975; Nesse, 2000).

Deciding when low mood is useful is challenging because we humans mainly pursue social resources such as relationships and status that are much harder to observe and quantify than berries on a bush. Clinicians may choose to alter mood by targeting neurotransmitters or negative thoughts, but the possibility that low mood is appropriate signaling that a new life strategy is required should also be considered. More on depression is in a later section.

All species tend to discount future rewards to some degree because the duration of the individual's future lifespan is never certain (Vanderveldt et al., 2016). Many species also have systems that adjust discounting to cope with different conditions. Harsh conditions likely to shorten life tend to shift the motivation system toward increased pursuit of early reproduction and short-term rewards, even in plants (Takeno, 2016). Many annuals shift to earlier flowering and seed set when dry conditions indicate that further growth may be impossible. The adaptive benefit of such shifts helps to make sense of the connection between early abuse and disorders on the externalizing spectrum such as sociopathy and addiction (Ellis & Del Giudice, 2014; Gelles & Lancaster, 1987). Tendencies to inhibited goal pursuit characterize problems on the internalizing spectrum, such as anxiety and obsessiveness. Twin studies suggest that this global dichotomy between internalizing and externalizing maps to two routes to depression (Kendler et al., 1996), and some authors have suggested that fast and slow life history trajectories provide a general framework for organizing mental disorders (Del Giudice, 2016) or specific disorders (Brüne, 2016).

Clinical Implications

Understanding reward from these four perspectives has important clinical implications. First, given how adaptive approach to reward is, and the mismatch between rewards in the EEA and the contemporary availability of rewards, we can expect that substance and behavioral addictions will be among the most common problems seen in the clinic (St John-Smith et al., 2013). The ready availability of carbohydrates has given rise to an epidemic of obesity, and the availability of a range of online rewards (e.g., gambling, gaming, porn) may lead additional epidemics of "lifestyle" illnesses. Second, given that the "wanting" of addiction differs from the "liking" obtained from a reward, we can expect that people with addiction will suffer enormous distress. The addicted individual is constantly striving to obtain rewards, whose consumption has rapidly diminishing hedonic value (e.g., rewards from social media). Thus, the global burden of disease due to substances and behavioral addictions is massive. Third, given that different rewards are particularly important at different stages of life, we can expect to see different sorts of reward-based problems at different life stages. A good clinician will be aware of this and will adapt screening questions and clinical focus accordingly. Fourth, a key aspect treatment of addictive disorders involves re-learning how to manage temptations and the development of new and healthier habits. Fifth, in evaluating the addicted patient, it is important to evaluate the particular

resources for re-learning and for developing new habits. Relatedly, in treating the addicted patient, we should be thinking about healthier ways to obtaining hedonic reward rather than aiming at absolute abstinence. Finally, the rewards system downregulates in certain situations and is also vulnerable to malfunction for several reasons. More about this is in the section about depression.

Attachment: Four Kinds of Explanation

Evolutionary psychiatry got its start with John Bowlby's recognition that mother-infant attachment is an adaptive trait, one whose disruption is responsible for much pathology later in life. Integrating all four kinds of explanation is an ongoing project.

Proximate Explanations

There is a growing understanding of the neuroanatomy and neurocircuitry of attachment (Insel, 2000). Neuroimaging studies have, for example, demonstrated that hearing the sound of one's infant crying leads to functional activation of specific brain regions (Strathearn et al., 2009). Neuroendocrine studies have explored the role of specific neuropeptides in facilitating maternalinfant attachment (Galbally et al., 2011) although it is increasingly clear that the effects of oxytocin are far more complex than simply mediating attachment (Szymanska et al., 2017). Disruption of maternal-infant attachment has also shed light on the relevant neurocircuitry and neuroendocrinology of attachment (Teicher & Samson, 2016).

Developmental Explanations

The ontogeny of attachment has been the object of detailed studies that describe typical ages of onset and offset for various attachment phenomena and factors that influence their intensity and duration (Main, 2000). In the first months of life, constant contact is in the interests of mother and infant. As locomotion becomes possible, motivation for the infant to stay close to the mother becomes useful, as does stranger anxiety. The interests of infants and mothers diverge after a few years when continuing to nurse is in the child's interest but not the mother's (Dettwyler, 1995). Such experiences vary

depending on available resources, mother's temperament, and the presence of siblings. As noted earlier, Harlow's work on non-human primates and studies of institutionalized orphans have demonstrated the major neurodevelopmental and behavioral sequelae of disrupted early attachment. Early on, separated infants demonstrate agitation and then withdrawal; later in life, they tend to have unstable relationships (Harlow & Harlow, 1962).

Phylogenetic Explanations

The phylogeny of attachment has been studied in a variety of primates, with variations tending to map to ecological differences (Fraley et al., 2005). For instance, human infants remain immobile for an extended period, while baboon infants gradually increase roaming distance from their mother in the first weeks of life (Rowell et al., 2009). Indeed, attempts to provide any one kind of explanatory account are informed by attempts to provide the other three types of explanation.

Explanations Based on a Trait's Adaptive Significance

John Bowlby pioneered evolutionary psychiatry with his recognition that attachment gives selective advantages, ensuring that a range of harms are avoided (Bowlby, 1969). Dangers from wild animals and harm from other humans are key threats to infants. Simply being left on the ground instead of being held risks damage from infection, insects, and exposure. The general tendency for babies to cry when left alone is useful, and its aversiveness motivates mothers to do what is needed to comfort the baby (Zeifman, 2001).

While anxious and avoidant attachment styles have been viewed as abnormal, contemporary behavioral ecologists have considered the possibility that those styles of attachment are actually strategies that babies use to get care from parents who might otherwise put their efforts elsewhere (Belsky, 1999; Chisholm, 1996; Simpson, 1999). Is that correct? Does it work? Do such tendencies persist into adulthood? Much depends on understanding the adaptive significance of attachment in general and different styles of attachment in particular.

Variations in parental behavior arising from differences in genetic relatedness have inspired extremely salient evolutionary studies by evolutionary psychologists Daly and Wilson (Daly & Wilson, 1981, 1988b). An evolutionary perspective inspired them to ask if rates of child homicide were higher in families that include a stepparent; they were 70 times higher (Daly & Wilson, 1988a). This does not mean that human parents have the same evolved adaptation that motivates some other primate to kill unrelated offspring (Driscoll, 2005), but it does call attention to how kinship influences attachment and behavior.

Clinical Implications

Understanding attachment from these four perspectives has important clinical implications. First, under different circumstances, different kinds of attachment may be advantageous. Under resource-constrained conditions, infants may need to be independent earlier; those who can do so have been termed "dandelions." Mothers in such situations may withdraw resources from the infant, with consequences for future life that often need detailed analysis in psychotherapy (Sieff, 2019). Under resource-rich conditions, longer and more intense attachments may facilitate growth; individuals who thrive under such conditions have been termed "orchids" (Lionetti et al., 2018). Second, a range of maternal-infant and sib-sib conflicts can be predicted. Mothers and other siblings are advantaged by earlier weaning but infants are advantaged by later weaning so conflict is inevitable (Trivers, 1974). Weaning conflicts begin when it becomes in the interest of the mother's genes to reproduce again. They end when it becomes in the interest of the offspring's genes to stop nursing and allow the mother to produce another sibling who will share half of its genes. These conflicts are intrinsic for mammals even though we may not be conscious of them. Empirical data also suggest that children receive more food from their biological mothers than from their stepmothers and that children with grandparents survive better than those without. Third, the idea that family dynamics can be explained on the basis of children having an unconscious sexual wish toward their parents doesn't make biological sense, although seemingly seductive behavior might manipulate

parents. Empirical data show that individuals raised in well-functioning nuclear or extended families (e.g., on kibbutzim) do not become sexually attracted to one another in adulthood, but instead prefer sexual partners who they meet for the first time as adults (Erickson, 1993; Rantala & Marcinkowska, 2011; Shepher, 1971; Westermarck, 1922). Lack of early contact helps to explain incest and related impulses that are important for understanding conflicts in reconstituted families (Lieberman et al., 2003). Fourth, the psychobiology of infant-maternal separation is likely to have mechanisms in common with those that underpin symptoms of depression and anxiety; agents that diminish the response to maternalinfant separation are likely to be useful in the treatment of mood and anxiety disorders (Marais et al., 2006). Fifth, clinical symptoms and personality traits may have origins in early attachment patterns and family dynamics (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2012); these patterns and dynamics may influence psychotherapeutic relationships.

Evolutionary Medicine: Why Does Vulnerability to Disease Persist?

If traits have evolutionary in addition to proximate explanations, what about diseases? Were they too shaped by natural selection? If anxiety gives a selective advantage, what about schizophrenia? The average psychiatrist, asked about how evolutionary theory can help psychiatry, might well mention theories linking schizophrenia with creativity and the idea that extreme creativity in some individuals benefits the species. However, such attempts to find adaptive functions for diseases are a serious mistake.

Diseases are not adaptations. They are not traits shaped by natural selection. *Viewing diseases as adaptations is a mistake that is as common as it is serious*. Diseases happen to only some individuals; they are not traits shared by all members of a species. They can influence fitness (negatively), but they do not have evolutionary explanations based on their adaptive value (Nesse, 2011, 2023).

Traits that cause vulnerability to disease are another matter entirely. Most are universal in a species. They are shaped by natural selection, so they need evolutionary explanations. The birth canal is narrow. Our abilities to resist cancer and infection are limited. Epilepsy has many causes. Pain is useful, but chronic useless pain is common. Anxiety and mood disorders are overwhelmingly common. Schizophrenia and autism occur worldwide. Why did natural selection leave us vulnerable to so many diseases? Evolutionary medicine takes such questions seriously, and it looks for possible answers (Williams & Nesse, 1991).

Until recent decades, disease was attributed mainly to proximate causes such as genetic mutations, exposure to pathogens or toxins, or aging. Evolution, on the other hand, was thought to mainly explain why traits work so remarkably well. Evolutionary medicine grew out of recognition that traits that leave a species vulnerable to disease can have several kinds of evolutionary different explanations; authors have recommended slightly different ways to categorize them (Crespi, 2000; Ewald, 2018; Grunspan et al., 2018; Nesse, 2005d; Perlman, 2005). Six reasons for vulnerability are cited most often: constraints on selection, tradeoffs, fast pathogen evolution, mismatch with environments, reproduction at the cost of health, and defenses such as pain and cough (Nesse, 2005d). Below are expanded categories that emphasize the contrast between vulnerabilities that result from the limits of natural selection and vulnerabilities that result from traits that maximize inclusive fitness at the cost of harm to individual health.

Evolutionary explanations for disease vulnerability fall broadly into three main groups: (1) things that natural selection just can't do, (2) traits that maximize gene transmission at the cost of disease vulnerability, and (3) genes that enhance their own transmission at a cost to the host's genes (Table 2).

The Limitations of Natural Selection

There are several things that natural selection simply can't do. It can't prevent or repair all mutations, nor can it select out deleterious

Table 2 Evolutionary explanations for disease vulnerability

The limitations of natural selection

- Deleterious mutations are inevitable and are only slowly selected out
- Genetic drift can eliminate beneficial alleles or make deleterious ones universal
- Developmental stochasticity cannot be completely eliminated
- Path dependence limits major revisions of suboptimal traits
- Mismatch with changing environments results because selection is slow
- · Pathogens evolve far faster than hosts
- Selfish genetic elements can harm the host's fitness
- Traits that maximize gene transmission but cause health vulnerabilities
- Benefits early in life are selected for despite costs later (antagonistic pleiotropy)
- Reproductive success is maximized at the cost of health (life history tradeoffs)
- Traits maintained by kin selection can decrease direct reproduction
- · Defenses are often highly aversive and intrinsically vulnerable to failure
- Maximizing performance of a trait can compromise its robustness
- · Plasticity adapts systems to situations at the cost of vulnerability to dysregulation
- Sexually antagonistic selection gives benefits to one sex at a cost to the other
- Maternal vs. paternal genome competition can harm individual fitness

mutations quickly, especially recessive ones. It cannot canalize developmental pathways to ensure completely standardized outcomes from cell migrations during development. It can't provide protection against some dangers, for instance, gamma radiation. Finally, natural selection is too slow to keep up with rapid biotic or abiotic environmental changes. These are all wellrecognized reasons for disease vulnerability.

Deleterious mutations are responsible for vulnerability to a range of diseases. However, the more we learn about the genetics of mental disorders, the more it is clear that there is no "gene x for mental disorder y." Although serious mental disorders, such as schizophrenia, have been associated with very rare severely damaging variants critical to synaptic function, different genes are affected in different individuals with the same condition (Gulsuner et al., 2020). Common mental disorders have a polygenic architecture, with each gene variant contributing only a tiny proportion of the variance (Kendler, 2013). Genetic variants associated with low fitness gradually disappear from the gene pool, but new harmful mutations are constantly created (Keller & Miller, 2006; van Dongen & Boomsma, 2013).

Changes in allele frequency may result as much from genetic drift as they do from natural selection (Lynch et al., 2016). Especially in small populations, genes are influenced by stochastic factors such as the accidental death of an individual with a beneficial mutation or high reproduction by good luck for an individual with a deleterious allele. It remains to be determined which mental disorders arise from neutral alleles that cause pathology only when interacting with certain genetic or external environments.

Just as natural selection cannot prevent all mutations, it also cannot canalize development completely, so **stochastic variation in development** occasionally results in pathology even if all genes are normal and in a normal environment. Brain development seems to be especially prone to such problems; this may have special relevance for childhood-onset mental disorders such as autism.

Less well recognized are vulnerabilities that result from path dependence, the inability of natural selection to start from scratch to correct a vulnerable body plan. For instance, we are stuck with a windpipe that opens into the pharynx where it can be blocked by food. A machine with that kind of problem would be redesigned from scratch, but bodies can change only by small sequential modifications. Brain mechanisms too are constrained by path dependence. Pathways that transmit signals of danger fast are incompletely integrated with slower systems that bring considered appraisals of risk (LeDoux & Pine, 2016). Path-dependent constraints may also help to explain a range of human cognitive biases, including the tendency to think about causes

simplistically, and to form convictions based on scant evidence; such limitations may help explain the human vulnerability to a range of psychiatric symptoms, including delusions.

Natural selection is also too slow to prevent mismatch with fast-changing environments, particularly environments that provide access to chemical and non-chemical stimuli that engage our "wanting" neurocircuitry (Gluckman & Hanson, 2006). Obesity and atherosclerosis are wellrecognized products of the mismatch between our evolved physiology and current environments. Substance-related and addictive disorders, such as gambling and gaming disorder, are an example of mental disorders resulting from such mismatch (Nesse & Berridge, 1997). Note, however, that while there has been much speculation about how modern environments might increase the risk for mental disorders, there is relatively little evidence for major increases in rates, with the exception of addiction (Baxter et al., 2014). Every generation views itself as uniquely stressed, and stressors of modern life do influence rates of problems, but they are unlikely to explain most cases of anxiety or mood disorders. This said, there is every reason to investigate possible malign effects of social media and the reasons why rates of depression differ so drastically in different cultures.

Natural selection cannot keep up with **rapidly evolving pathogens**. This is relevant to pediatric autoimmune disorders (such as the onset of obsessive-compulsive symptoms after streptococcal infection) (see Laje, chapter ▶ "Neurobiology of Neuroimmune Encephalitic Disorders") and to understanding the role of inflammation in depression. There is also a growing appreciation of the gut-brain axis; our microbiome appears to play a substantive role in governing some aspects of brain function.

Traits That Maximize Gene Transmission at the Cost of Disease Vulnerability

Antagonistic pleiotropy refers to genes with multiple effects that are opposite to each other,

usually beneficial early in life when selection is strong and deleterious late in life when selection is weak. Recognition of the role of antagonistic pleiotropy has revolutionized the study of aging (Austad & Hoffman, 2018; Turke, 2008). Many such genes are fixed so no variation is observed. However, variations that influence the rate of aging cannot be assumed to be deleterious mutations; they might give benefits earlier in life. For instance, women with the ApoE4 allele are likely to develop atherosclerotic and neurodegenerative disease earlier than other women, but they have increased progesterone levels which may increase fertility (Jasienska et al., 2015). ApoE4 also protects against parasites and can, in ancestral environments, improve fitness and even cognitive function (Trumble et al., 2017).

Tradeoffs between health and reproductive success are resolved by maximizing inclusive fitness. So, humans, like other organisms, invest inordinate effort and risk in competing for mates, having sex, and taking care of children. An extraordinary proportion of psychiatric symptoms arise from life situations involving reproductive competition, even though individual patients may be unaware of the association.

Kin selection explains why people make big and often risky efforts to help children and other relatives. Many people become understandably distraught about their children's problems at the expense of their own health. The benefits of nurturing and altruistic motivations come with substantial costs.

Defensive mechanisms impose major costs and suffering, such as immune responses (which may lead to life-threatening allergic reactions) and anxiety reactions (which are associated with significant burden of disease). The benefits are essential but the costs are substantial. A range of adaptive but aversive emotions are discussed in more detail below.

The **tradeoff between peak performance and robustness** is observed in machines as well as bodies. The fastest race cars are light and fragile. Strong selection has shaped extreme human cognitive, linguistic, and social abilities, perhaps at the cost of vulnerability to some mental disorders. Although several authors have hypothesized that schizophrenia reflects a fitness tradeoff at the extreme end of variation (Crow, 1997; Greenwood, 2016; van Dongen & Boomsma, 2013), newer genetic studies challenge this interpretation (Uricchio, 2019). Additional mechanisms may underlie the intrinsic vulnerability of some traits to failure (Crespi & Go, 2015; Del Giudice & Crespi, 2018).

Some cybernetic regulation systems are intrinsically vulnerable to failure. Positive feedback mechanisms maintain feeding once it begins, but they make the system vulnerable to out-ofcontrol gorging. Small exposures to drugs and alcohol can precipitate binges. Self-adjusting systems are also especially vulnerable. Repeated arousal of anxiety sensitizes the system adaptively in dangerous environments, but at the risk of anxiety symptoms themselves initiating more anxiety. When nociception is insufficient to prevent repeated damage and pain, the system sensitizes, creating the risk of positive feedback causing chronic pain (Nesse & Schulkin, 2019). Early adaptive developmental plasticity to privation or abuse allows adaptive responses to different environments, with the rise of long-term adverse health consequences (Gluckman et al., 2019).

Finally, traits with a **cliff-edged fitness function** are shaped to a mean value close to the peak that maximizes gene transmission even though inevitable variation of offspring will leave many with trait values "off the cliff" and vulnerable to problems (Nesse, 2004a). The average trait value is stabilized, not at the peak, and not at the point that maximizes health for the population, but at the point that maximizes multigeneration gene transmission, resulting in poor outcomes for a few percent of the population-just what is observed for many highly heritable conditions (Nesse, 2019a).

Benefits to Genes at the Expense of the Individual's Health

The cells in an individual's body cooperate superbly because that is the best way for all of them to get their genes into future generations. Such cooperation is possible, thanks to all cells in an individual starting off genetically identical, germline cells being sequestered from somatic cells, and apoptosis working to eliminate rogue cells. This is the huge and amazing evolutionary transition that made complex multicellular organisms possible (Smith & Szathmáry, 1995). Its limitations help to explain our vulnerability to cancer.

However, there are rare examples of genes that get around these controls (Burt & Trivers, 2006). Meiosis usually ensures that each copy of a gene has a 50% chance of getting into an egg or sperm. **Selfish genetic elements** that distort segregation can get themselves into more than the usual 50% of offspring. Meiotic driver genes can secrete poisons that kill off gametes that don't include them, explaining why one such gene was named *wtf* (Bravo Núñez et al., 2018). While such phenomena are not yet known to cause specific human disorders, recognizing their existence, and why they are not more common, offers important insights into how natural selection works.

A more common example is **sexually antagonistic selection**. An allele can be maintained by the advantage it gives to one sex despite costs to the other sex. The conservation of iron associated with hemochromatosis alleles causes liver disease mainly in men, but benefits to women who lose a bit of iron with each menstrual cycle may maintain the genes. While major effects of sexually antagonistic selection are not revealed by genetic studies of humans, stronger immune responses in women and associated increased risk of autoimmune disease may be an example (Roved et al., 2017) that could be relevant for understanding sex differences in mental disorders.

Finally, a series of studies by David Haig describes **competition between paternal and maternal genomes** in mice about how much the mother should invest in the fetus: more gives an advantage to the genome of the father (who may not be the father of a subsequent offspring); less reserves a mother's resources for investing in a future fetus. His recent book elaborates these ideas and related profound implications for behavior and philosophy (Haig, 2020).

Conceptualizing and Explaining Mental Disorder

A conceptual framework for psychiatry must address the central question in philosophy of psychiatry, "What is a mental disorder?". This question turns out to be remarkably difficult to answer (Matthewson & Griffiths, 2017; Stein, 2013; Troisi & McGuire, 2002; Wakefield, 1992, 2007). Psychoanalysis provided a particular attractive framework in part because it proposed that all individuals had neurotic defenses, and it provided specific hypotheses about how such defenses malfunctioned. Biological psychiatry is attractive insofar as it suggests that mental disorders are characterized by specific neurobiological alterations and that sensitive and specific biomarkers of mental disorders will someday be found. As it turns out, however, psychoanalytic models of the unconscious are now dated, while the promise of sensitive and specific biomarkers has not materialized. The resulting frustration allows critics of psychiatry to argue that mental disorders are merely social constructions that are best explained by power differentials rather than underlying biology.

Evolutionary psychiatry buttresses an integrative framework for navigating between scientism and skepticism regarding the ontological status of specific mental disorders (Stein, 2013). As noted already, mental disorders are not like the chemical entities of the periodic table; they have fuzzy boundaries, and they involve multiple different mechanisms. On the other hand, mental disorders cannot be thought of as garden weeds, where the definition of a weed differs from garden to garden, from time to time, and from place to place. It has been difficult to find a framework that avoids both scientism and skepticism, but agreement is growing that evolutionary analyses of normal function are crucial to conceptualizing dysfunction and disease (First & Wakefield, 2013; Griffiths & Matthewson, 2018).

A rigorous understanding of the proximal and distal mechanisms that contribute to cognition, affect, and behavior can help us to steer a sensible course that recognizes the complexity of mental disorders and the range of factors that help us determine when to diagnose and if and how to intervene. For instance, when distinguishing normal from pathological social anxiety, we rely not on biomarkers, but rather on assessment of symptom severity and duration, and related distress and impairment (First & Wakefield, 2013). Such diagnostic products of individual case formulation provide useful guides for communication and evidence-based treatment decisions (Stein & Vythilingum, 2007).

One of the key contributions evolutionary biology makes to nosology is a theoretical framework for distinguishing between symptoms and diseases (Nesse & Stein, 2012; Wakefield, 2023). Anxiety, low mood, and jealousy are evolved responses that, like pain and cough, are normal responses that are themselves diseases only when they arise from an abnormal regulation system. However, normal regulation mechanisms often give rise to useless emotions, for reasons discussed in the below section on emotions.

An evolutionary framework helps to explain the ongoing dissatisfaction with our current nosology, the failure to find biomarkers that define mental disorders, and the importance of taking an approach to symptoms like that taken in the rest of medicine. In general medicine, doctors recognize cough as an adaptive defense, so they look for possible causes. The possibility that the cough itself is pathological is considered only if no cause can be found. No biomarker can differentiate normal from abnormal cough. Rather, treatment decisions are based on analyzing what may be arousing an individual's cough, symptom severity, and the pros and cons of suppressing cough. Similarly, no biomarker can differentiate normal from abnormal anxiety. It too is a normal defense, requiring similar careful consideration of possible causes and an understanding of the particular individual, the nature of the symptoms, and the relevant evidence base.

An evolutionary framework emphasizes that some disorders are products of multiple often interacting causes. Monocausal mechanisms will never define all disorders in psychiatry for the same reasons they don't define many disorders in the rest of medicine. While some entities may reflect single etiological mechanisms (say, type 1 diabetes), many others are pragmatic kinds which reflect a system failure with many different causes (say, heart failure). Similarly, in psychiatry, while some entities have a very specific and homogenous cause (say, cannabis-induced psychosis), most psychiatric entities are pragmatic kinds that involve multiple different causes, mechanisms, and symptoms (Griffiths & Matthewson, 2018; Kendler, 2012; Stein, 2011). This is consistent with our growing understanding of the genetic architecture of common mental disorders; genetic pleiotropy means that we will not be able to map single genes, and perhaps not even sets of genes, to single psychiatric disorders (Smoller et al., 2019).

An evolutionary framework also helps highlight and understand differences between emotional disorders, cognitive disorders, and behavioral disorders. Aversive emotions are experienced by most everyone, and they can be normal and useful. Delusions and hallucinations are experienced by only a few individuals, and they are typically abnormal and harmful. The mistake of thinking that aversive emotions are useless is matched by the mistake of thinking that delusions and hallucinations are useful. Delusions and hallucinations arise, not from dysregulations of normal defenses, but from failures of information processing systems. Some cases of high-functioning autism spectrum disorders represent a middle case in which the clinical condition is not a normal adaptive response, but instead reflects the extreme tail of a continuous distribution of the tendency to systematize (Baron-Cohen, 2000). Behavioral disorders such as addiction can be understood as products of normal learning mechanisms interacting with novel environments; this contributes to understanding why they can be conceptualized not as typical disorders where the normal sick role applies, but rather as atypical disorders in the sense that individuals must in part take responsibility for their own recovery (Stein, 2011).

In summary, an evolutionary perspective discourages both the reification of diagnostic constructs and the reductionism of monocausal approaches and its associated hope that they will define crisply separate disorders and susceptible to silver bullet treatments. It encourages accepting the reality that most mental disorders are like many other medical disorders in having blurry boundaries and many interacting causes and that they may require multimodal interventions. An appreciation of distinctions between cognitive, emotional, and behavioral disorders further discourages oversimplified conclusions about our nosology and about treatment approaches. We can use the DSM as a practical way to communicate without derogating it because the world it describes is not a simple as we would wish.

Key Points About Emotions and Their Disorders

Most mental disorders are emotional disorders, and the vast majority of psychiatric patients seek relief from bad feelings (Kessler et al., 2009). Most research has looked for proximate explanations, often in just one cause. Evolutionary explanations of normal emotions and their regulation mechanisms instead provide an integrative framework that is appropriate for understanding the complexity of emotional disorders.

Until the middle of the twentieth century, the study of emotions consisted mostly of careful observation and description of psychological and neural proximate mechanisms, with a transition from generalizations to attention to individual differences (Griffiths, 1997; Lazarus, 1993; Wierzbicka, 2010). Recognition that natural selection shaped the capacities for emotions has transformed the field (Al-Shawaf & Shackelford, 2023; Al-Shawaf et al., 2016; Haselton & Ketelaar, 2006; Nesse, 1990; Plutchik, 1970; Tooby & Cosmides, 1990). The role of emotions for avoiding threats and pursuing rewards was earlier noted, but several additional principles provide a framework for considering pathology across the full range of emotions and for addressing the evolutionary medicine question of why emotions are so vulnerable to dysregulation (Nesse, 2005b, 2019a, 2023).

The most fundamental principle is that emotions are special states of operation shaped by natural selection to give advantages in certain **situations** (Nesse, 1990, 2019a, 2023). Sharp focus on the situation is crucial. The characteristics of each emotion were shaped by the adaptive challenges in situations experienced repeatedly by a species during its evolution. This has several implications. Different emotions correspond to different situations. They are neither completely separate basic emotions nor mere positions in a dimensional space. Determining if an emotion is useful requires analyzing if the situation is present. Negative emotions are just as useful as positive emotions. Finally, it suggests five reasons why most instances of useless or harmful emotions are products of normal emotion regulation mechanisms (Table 3).

The subjective pain and pleasure that accompanies emotions contribute to their utility. Aversiveness motivates escaping and avoiding situations that harm fitness. Positive states motivate staying in beneficial situations and recreating them. The association of negative emotions with threats and losses fosters the illusion that they are usually harmful or abnormal. But individuals who lack negative emotions have serious disorders; hypophobics fail to protect themselves from danger. Individuals who lack a capacity for normal low mood are envied, but they also should be studied to see what price they pay. Individuals who lack jealousy are likely to have fewer children than others. People who lack disgust may be vulnerable to infection. Recognizing the utility of negative emotions encourages a medical approach to emotions as symptoms that require investigation.

Five Reasons Why Aversive Emotions Are Usually Normal but Useless

Natural selection shaped the mechanisms that regulate emotions, so it seems obvious that emotions arising from normal mechanisms should be useful and emotions that are useless or harmful must arise from abnormal mechanisms. However, most experiences of aversive emotions are normal but useless. Five reasons explain why (Nesse, 2023).

The smoke detector principle explains why false alarms are normal and common (Nesse, 2006). The optimal response threshold can be quantified using signal detection theory. For instance, if a noise indicates a chance that lion is nearby, and the cost of fleeing is 100 but the cost of staying if the lion is present is 10,000, then fleeing is worth it whenever the noise indicates more than a 1.0% chance of a lion being present. That means that in 100 encounters with such a stimulus, 99 will be normal false alarms whose costs are worth it.

The implications for panic disorder are obvious, but the smoke detector principle is relevant for all defenses. Pain, fever, inflammation, vomiting, and cough are expressed whenever the small consistent costs of expressing the defense are lower than the huge but intermittent benefits. This explains why it is usually safe to use medications to block suffering of all kinds. It also explains why physicians must be alert for situations when the defense is essential. The smoke detector principle contradicts the wrongheaded belief that we should not disrupt normal painful emotions, even as it encourages respect for the value of defenses. It has been usefully adapted as "error management theory" to explain how selective advantages can result from cognitive distortions, such as the tendency of men to assume that ambiguous cues indicate a woman's sexual interest (Haselton & Buss, 2000).

Self-adjusting systems also give rise to much useless suffering. As noted already, repeated tissue damage can sensitize the pain system, making it vulnerable to positive feedback and chronic pain (Nesse & Schulkin, 2019). Likewise, the repeated experience of danger indicates the need to shift the anxiety system to increased sensitivity. Such self-sensitizing systems facilitate adaptation to dangerous environments, but they are inherently vulnerable to pathological positive feedback loops. Panic disorder and post-traumatic stress disorders are examples. Discussing this vicious cycle can be profoundly useful in helping patients to complete difficult therapy assignments.

The observation that episodes of depression may "kindle" future episodes has been interpreted as a product of brain damage, but it could also be a product of a system that adjusts adaptively after repeated experiences of failure. Targeting the neural mechanisms that mediate self-adjusting systems offers opportunities for drug development.

Mismatch between our evolved physiology and our current environments gives rise to much useless emotion. Mass media offer visions of other lives that make most people feel inadequate

Table 3 Key points about emotions

Emotions were shaped because they improve coping with specific situations

• Emotions are adaptive states shaped by natural selection that increased fitness in situations that recurred during the evolution of the species

• Different emotions are neither distinctly separate, nor are they mere locations on dimensions; they evolved from precursor states useful in related situations

- The characteristics of different emotions correspond to the adaptive challenges in the situations that shaped them
- Subjective experience is only one aspect of an emotion; it is sometimes absent

· Assessing the normality of an emotional expression requires assessing the situation

• The emotional impact of information often is mediated by an individual's appraisal of the implications for progress toward personal goals

Both pain and pleasure are useful

- Emotions are positive or negative because they were shaped by situations involving gains or losses
- · Negative emotions are as useful as positive emotions
- · Disorders of excess and deficiency exist for both positive and negative emotions

Negative emotions are often useless products of normal mechanisms

- The smoke detector principle explains the prevalence of false alarms
- · Self-adjusting thresholds are vulnerable to positive feedback dysregulation
- · Novel environmental cues arouse emotions excessively or unnecessarily
- · Happenstance sequences of experiences can result in regulation failure
- · Benefits to genes can shape a trait despite its costs to the individual

Emotions are complex and vulnerable to failure

• Emotion regulation mechanisms are subject to failure for several reasons

- Disorders across the full range of emotions deserve consideration, not just anxiety and depression
- Different cultures describe emotions differently in ways that can change the experience and effects of emotions

and deprived. Social roles in bureaucracies leave many people deeply dissatisfied but unable to leave. Modern diets and lack of exercise foster obesity and inflammation that predispose to depression as well as physical illnesses. While novel environments undoubtedly are relevant, the tendency to attribute most mental problems to the stress of modern life is a misconception that has been prevalent ever since ancient Athens. Studies of mental disorders in hunter-gatherer populations are nonetheless urgently needed before the opportunity evaporates.

Even in normal environments, happenstance sequences of threatening or nonrewarding events can shift normal systems into a maladaptive dead end that prevents additional exploration that would more accurately reflect the environment's affordances (McNamara & Trimmer, 2019; Meacham & Bergstrom, 2016). Behavior therapy is well suited to helping patients escape from such traps.

Emotions often offer **benefits to our genes at our expense**. This is why sex causes so many emotional problems. Sexual jealousy, unrequited love, stalking, and simple lack of sexual satisfaction give rise to many clinical problems. Sexual disorders offer another illustration of a system shaped to maximize reproduction at the cost of satisfaction. Why is premature orgasm a problem mostly for men, while delayed or absent orgasm is a problem mostly for women? It is likely because women who have orgasms fast and sometimes stop intercourse before their partners ejaculate will have fewer children than other women (Nesse, 2019a). The dyssynchronous sexual response system may maximize genetic fitness, but it also leads to a much frustration and many clinical consultations.

Why Regulation Mechanisms Are Vulnerable to Failure

Attention to the functions of emotions should not decrease respect for the prevalence of disorder arising from **abnormal regulation systems**.

Abnormalities may result from genetics, early experience, psychological or physical trauma, and any number of things that influence the brain directly. They have been the subject of massive research that will not be reviewed here because it is summarized well in other chapters (Schatzberg and Manchia, chapter ▶ "Neurobiological Foundations of Mood Disorders"; Meaney and Leonardo, chapter ▶ "The Neurobiology of Anxiety Disorders and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder").

The evolutionary question, only now being addressed, is why emotion regulation systems are vulnerable to dysregulation. This needs investigation using proximate and evolutionary analyses complemented by cybernetics. Possibilities include all those listed in Table 2. The most important are likely to be the limited ability of natural selection to remove mutations and the stochastic nature of brain development. Recognizing that aversive emotions often arise from normal mechanisms helps to explain why specific biomarkers for emotional disorders have proved so elusive. Primary brain causes will eventually be discovered for some disorders, but pathology may sometimes arise from conflicts in information processing systems in physiologically normal brains. Looking for specific brain causes of such conditions may be like examining a circuit board to try to explain why a computer crashes.

While all emotions are vulnerable to excess or deficiency, anxiety and depression get all the attention. An evolutionary view encourages attention to **excesses and deficiencies of all emotions** including jealousy, envy, pride, guilt, infatuation, boredom, disgust, and positive emotions such as enthusiasm, infatuation, and awe. Anxiety has already been covered, and disgust and jealousy will be briefly addressed, but first a brief summary of evolutionary approaches to depression is justified by the extensive work on the topic by evolutionary psychiatrists.

Depression causes more disability than any other mental disorder, and it is often profoundly maladaptive, even aside from the risk of suicide. Consequently, it has been the focus of extensive attempts to understand it in evolutionary terms (Andrews & Thomson, 2009; Beck & Bredemeier, 2016; Crespi, 2009; Gilbert, 1992, 2006; Hagen, 2011; Miller & Raison, 2016; Nesse, 1999, 2000, 2009; Nettle, 2004; Nettle, 2011; Price et al., 1994; Raison & Miller, 2013; Rottenberg, 2014; Sloman, 2008; Wolpert, 2008). Because "depression" now usually connotes an abnormal state, using that term in attempts to understand its function generates confusion. This can be reduced by using the term "low mood" to refer to states of depression that may or may not be adaptive.

Evolutionary explanations for depression are often framed in terms of specific adaptive functions. For instance, it has been proposed that depression can solicit aid, signal submissiveness, conserve resources, motivate problem-solving, and encourage behaviors that other group members value. All of these functions are relevant, but framing the explanation as a single function arouses confusion and controversy because low mood/depression has many functions.

A different approach instead describes the situations in which low mood has been useful over the course of evolution. At the most general, in unpropitious situations, effort and risk-taking are likely to result in costs greater than benefits (Nesse, 2000). However, many authors emphasize the utility of low mood in more specific social situations. The best developed thesis notes how "involuntary yielding" after a status loss can prevent attacks (Sloman & Price, 1987). Closely related are suggestions that low mood is useful when cues indicate possible exclusion from a group or when time and effort need to be conserved to deal with a major life problem (Andrews & Thomson, 2009; Kennair et al., 2017). Failing efforts to make progress toward a goal are a common denominator. This more general framing encourages links to basic behavioral ecology, the possibility that subtypes of low mood have evolved to deal with different situations (Keller & Nesse, 2006; Rantala et al., 2018), and the possibility that the high costs of disengage from a failing effort in modern environments can motivate persistence in useless efforts that escalate ordinary low mood into clinical depression (Heckhausen & Schultz, 1995; Wrosch & Heckhausen, 2002).

Some empirical research has examined these hypotheses. For instance, reanalysis of data from the Islington studies supported the predication that life events involving loss, humiliation, and entrapment are especially potent precipitants of depression (Bifulco et al., 1998; Brown et al., 1995). A series of studies has shown that people who can give up goals are less prone to depression (G. E. Miller & Wrosch, 2007; Wrosch et al., 2003; Wrosch & Miller, 2009). However, largescale studies to determine the exact association of certain life situations with the onset, persistence, and offset of depression have yet to be done. Sophisticated studies of life events offer important guidance (Hammen, 2005; Kessler, 1997: Muscatell et al., 2009), but many of them collapse multiple depression symptoms into a sum score (Fried et al., 2014) and collapse diverse life situations into a global measure of "stress," thus discarding the idiographic information that would allow tests of specific evolutionary hypotheses. An evolutionary framework encourages additional research into how changes in idiographic life situations influence specific depression symptoms and courses of illness. Studies of grief from an evolutionary perspective may be particularly informative (Archer, 2003; Nesse, 2005a).

Infection is another situation in which low mood can be useful by conserving energy to fight the pathogen (Doyle et al., 2019; Hart, 1988; Shattuck & Muehlenbein, 2015). The association of inflammatory cytokines with depression and the ability of interferon to precipitate depression in some subjects support this thesis (Miller & Raison, 2016) and suggest considering treatment with anti-inflammatory drugs. It also suggests looking for phylogenetic precursors of low mood in systems that mediate pain and inflammation. If they have shared evolutionary origins, that would explain many otherwise confusing associations.

Bipolar disorder calls attention to the need for a cybernetic analysis of mood regulation. Increasing the gain in a control system can result in it getting stuck at both extremes. But what does gain mean in the mood regulation system? The high heritability of bipolar disorder suggests it is a good candidate for finding specific brain abnormalities, but like other disorders, many alleles with tiny effects seem to be responsible. Mood responsiveness in humans ranges widely from minimal in alexithymia to moderate in cyclothymia to more extreme in bipolar type 2 disorder, bipolar disorder, and borderline personality disorder (Akiskal, 1996; Akiskal & Akiskal, 2005; Wilson & Price, 2006). It seems likely that fitness has been similar across a wide range of mood responsiveness and that the regulation systems are inherently vulnerable to malfunction.

Disgust has been described as a neglected emotion. It is notable that there are continuities between gustatory avoidance mechanisms across species; in this sense, disgust is a negative emotion that, like anxiety, helps avoid harm (Rozin et al., 2008). It is only in humans, however, that disgust becomes integrated during the process of development with abstract concepts, so that we regard particular sorts of food, sexual relations, and other behaviors as "unclean." Anthropology has taught us that this distinction between the clean and the unclean is a universal (Douglas, 1966). The arousal of the same brain areas by exposure to physical disgusting cues and morally disgusting information suggests the possibility that moral passions may have evolved from physical ones (Hutcherson et al., 2015).

Understanding how evolution has shaped disgust may be relevant to understanding a number of mental disorders. It is noteworthy that simple phobias are often accompanied not only by anxiety but also by disgust. In obsessive-compulsive disorder, there seem to be disruptions in perception of disgust, with concordant alterations on neuroimaging (Stein et al., 2001). An evolutionary perspective emphasizes the potential value of placing more focus on disgust, encouraging future work on disgust assessment and perhaps even on how exposure and response prevention techniques could be shaped to consider not only anxiety but also disgust.

Jealousy is a common cause of relationship problems, violence, and delusions. Work by David Buss and others has shown that sexual jealousy is particularly common in males worldwide, but jealousy about allocating resources outside a relationship is more common for women (Buss et al., 1999). Their analysis shows why men who lack jealousy are likely to have fewer children than other men. The phylogeny of the responsible mechanisms is illustrated by alterations of oxytocin molecular mechanisms in montane and prairie voles that account for pair bonding (Insel and Young, 2001). The fact that jealousy is a crossspecies and cross-cultural universal for species with certain mating patterns does not mean that the system is rigid. Human cultures and individuals show a large variation in jealous thoughts and associated distress and conflicts.

While monocausal explanations of pathological jealousy have been put forward by various "schools," evolutionary biology provides a framework that can integrate multiple relevant explanations and "difference makers" that reflect where an individual falls on the spectrum between "normal" and delusional jealousy (Harris, 2003). This framework provides insights into different aspects of the phenomena (e.g., sex differences), and it suggests ways forward for both clinicians and researchers. In clinical practice, most jealousy should be normalized, and it may be helpful to explain obsessional jealousy in terms of normal mechanisms that can feedback in a vicious cycle. In research, it encourages a focus on shaping exposure and response techniques to be particularly responsive to putative mechanisms involved.

Deficiencies of aversive emotions are rarely recognized as problems although they can be severe. The lack of guilt in sociopathy is an exception. Deficient anxiety, hypophobia, is a disorder many would like to have, but it can be fatal. Lack of low mood can result in happily pursuing useless quests for a lifetime. Lack of disgust, envy, and jealousy are also pathological, even if they do not motivate requests for treatment.

The value of positive emotions has gotten welcome new attention in recent decades (Fredrickson, 2004) along with evidence that strategies for bolstering such emotions may be useful (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2014). **Deficits of positive emotion** are an underrecognized problem, even in the absence of negative emotions. As for problems arising from mild unjustified positive emotions, they have attracted modest attention because happy people don't complain (Gruber, 2011). Hyperthymia and hypomania are recognized as clinically significant, but simpler mild chronic excesses of positive affect are usually treated as good fortune, instead of as opportunities for investigation. Much remains to be done to understand the origins and significance of these phenomena in light of their adaptive significance.

In summary, an evolutionary framework supports a medical approach that recognizes negative emotions as defenses that increase fitness in relevant situations, but that are often aroused unnecessarily by normal regulation mechanisms. This perspective encourages clinicians to look carefully both for life situations that may be arousing emotions and also for reasons why a patient's aversive emotional state may be useless or abnormal. It contradicts the notion that useless and harmful emotions always arise from brain abnormalities, but it also recognizes reasons why regulation mechanisms are vulnerable to malfunction. Finally, this integrative framework encourages extending the analysis of emotional disorder to the full range of emotions and to disorders of deficient negative emotions and excessive positive ones.

Assessing Individual Lives

The foundation of social psychology is in Kurt Lewin's famous formula B = f(P, S); behavior is a function of the person (P) in the situation (S) (Lewin, 1951). The tendency in psychiatric research has been to focus on person factors like genetics, early abuse, and personality characteristics. Hundreds of studies of factors that influence a person's vulnerability to depression now enable a detailed summary of person factors that influence risk (Maj et al., 2020). It has turned out to be much harder to describe situations. Clinicians tend to incorporate all available information into a narrative that culminates in the current situation, but research studies, in a quest for reliable measures, instead use checklists of life events or measures of stress (Cohen et al., 1997). However, an evolutionary understanding of emotions shows that idiosyncratic aspects of an individual's life situation are often crucial factors in symptom onset or offset.

An evolutionary approach comes down strongly on the side of the need to understand

the life situations of individuals as individuals, linking diathesis to situations. Admittedly, the situations that cause symptoms are often difficult or impossible to change. Knowing that bad feelings arise from an abusive relationship, children in trouble, or a difficult decision about whether to stay in a relationship or job can help to solve a problem. More often, the details reveal the good reasons why a problem persists. Understanding those reasons provides the foundation for a productive therapeutic relationship. And knowing that an emotion is useless despite being normal can reframe a problem in ways that encourage difficult decisions or setting aside unsolvable problems.

Behavioral ecologists analyze how animals make decisions that allocate effort to maximize three main kinds of resources: physical (material and personal), social (allies and status), and reproductive (mates and offspring). Such decisions involve inherent tradeoffs, and they tend to maximize inclusive fitness, not individual health or longevity. Expanded to accommodate the social resources so crucial for humans, these categories suggest a systematic framework. In general medicine, physicians conduct a Review of Systems to look for possible causes of symptoms. In psychiatry, a Review of Social Systems (ROSS) organizes the search for causes of mental symptoms. The acronym S.O.C.I.A.L. offers a useful mnemonic for the resources that need to be considered (Nesse, 2019a). A full assessment covers, for each resource, what a person has, what he or she wants and is trying to do, expectations for how things are working out, and threats, obstacles, and pending decisions. This provides a nomothetic biological framework for organizing information about idiographic social situations likely to be arousing symptoms.

The Review of S.O.C.I.A.L. Systems Social resources: friends, status Occupation and other valued social roles Children and family Income and material resources Abilities, appearance, health, and other personal resources

Love and sex

For each resource ask:

- Is the person satisfied with the availability of this resource?
- If not, is the problem scarcity, threats, conflicting goals, or high aspirations?
- What is the person trying to do, get, or change, and how?
- What is the person trying to escape, avoid, or prevent, and how?
- What decisions is the person considering about strategies and priorities?
- What future does the person expect in this area?

Relationship Benefits and Vicissitudes

Most psychiatric episodes are precipitated by relationship conflicts, and disorders that arise from other sources tend to cause relationship problems. Huge therapeutic efforts go into helping people maintain and repair relationships. While the reality of conflict is acknowledged, its evolutionary origins and functions often go unrecognized. Major advances made in the final third of the twentieth century are available to assist.

Before the 1960s, it was generally accepted that natural selection shaped traits for the good of the group or the species. In 1966, however, George Williams pointed out that the genes of individuals who sacrificed their fitness for the group would become less frequent with each generation, even if the group benefited (Williams, 1966). At about the same time, William Hamilton showed how kin selection could explain tendencies to make sacrifices for children and other kin (Crespi et al., 2014; Hamilton, 1964). Richard Dawkins used the metaphor of the selfish gene to communicate the new perspective (Dawkins, 1976), Robert Trivers described how the benefits of trading favors could shape capacities for cooperation (Trivers, 1971), and Robert Axelrod provided a comprehensive study of such exchanges (Axelrod, 1997). Evolutionary science has extended and elaborated these principles into what is now a comprehensive framework for understanding cooperation and relationships that is ready for application in psychiatry (Apicella & Silk, 2019; Hammerstein, 2003).

This framework incorporates kin and non-kin relationships, but the major sacrifices people make for their friends and groups have provoked continuing controversy, perhaps because multiple factors have shaped capacities for such altruistic behavior. Groups with more cooperators do better than other groups, although this can explain the evolution of moral capacities only if the costs for individuals are exceedingly low compared to the benefits for the group. Mothers who provide alloparenting may get benefits out of proportion to their investments, creating selection for special kinds of cooperation (Hrdy, 2009). Groups that find ways to impose punishments on non-cooperators create powerful forces of cultural group selection that foster prosocial behavior, especially if there is a way to punish those who fail to punish non-cooperators (Richerson et al., 2015). Of particular importance for psychiatry are the advantages that come to individuals preferred as social partners. These advantages shape, via social selection, tendencies to be the kind of person that others prefer as a partner and enormous fears of exclusion (Nesse, 2007). Competition to display extreme altruism can result, a tendency that can be pathological (Hardy & Van Vugt, 2006). Guilt motivates reparations and repair of otherwise damaged relationships but also makes people vulnerable to manipulation, causing exploitative relationships that often generate severe symptoms.

An evolutionary perspective on social collaboration and conflict helps explain themes that often emerge during psychotherapy. People's expectations of others often cause problems. Believing that others are untrustworthy makes close relationships difficult and therapy challenging. Expectations that others will provide care without reciprocation also lead to constant disappointment. Marriages or work relationships that are exploitative but hard to escape create social traps that generate extreme emotions and behavioral strategies including threatening suicide.

Theories focused on proximal mechanisms, such as schema theory, complement an evolutionary perspective by explaining how early family dynamics influence subsequent relationships and for targeting particular patterns during therapy (Riso et al., 2007). Thus, for example, schema theory has emphasized that early trauma may lead to a mistrust schema, in which the world is seen as threatening. In conceptualizing the psychotherapy of a person with such a schema, mistrust of the therapist is expected (the schema will be cued in many relationships), and good psychotherapy can provide some degree of reparative experience (psychotherapy is itself an important relationship).

An evolutionary perspective on relationships also has implications for how we conceptualize psychotherapy. The enduring challenge of negotiating the right therapeutic distance, for example, reflects the inherent difficulties posed by instrumental (exchange) relationships whose effectiveness requires empathy and intimate revelations that are more characteristic of a communal (committed) relationship. However, applying what biologists have learned about relationships to psychiatric problems and treatment is a project just getting started. Importantly, analysis of the fitness benefits and costs of relationships should never lose sight of the miracle of enduring human love and friendship. The mechanisms that make them possible were shaped by social selection and the other cultural and selection forces described above. We should be thankful for them, even as we continue to investigate their origins and the conflicts and symptoms they create.

Explaining the Persistence of Genes That Cause Disorders

Vulnerability to schizophrenia and autism depends overwhelmingly on a person's genes, but these disorders decrease fitness by about 50% (Power et al., 2013). This poses an obvious

evolutionary question. Why do the responsible genetic variations persist in the face of strong natural selection (Crespi, 2010; Keller, 2018; Keller & Miller, 2006; van Dongen & Boomsma, 2013)?

Before addressing this question, it is relevant to note that the focus of neurogenetics has been on proximate studies of genes associated with mental disorders. The initial hope was that specific gene variants would be found to account for specific psychiatric disorders. However, the effects of nearly all candidate genes have turned out to be false positives. Instead, most variation in risk arises from thousands of common variants that each have only tiny effects (Ohlsson & Kendler, 2020; Smoller et al., 2019). Across a wide range, the more common a genetic variation is the less influence it has on a disease. Remarkably, most variants, from rare to common, explain the same tiny proportion of variance: 0.04% (Gratten et al., 2014). Why is the proportion the same across the range of prevalence? Why aren't there common variations with larger effects? The main answer is that natural selection has eliminated variations that reduce fitness (Keller & Miller, 2006; Uricchio, 2019). But was fitness reduction from schizophrenia the only selection force?

All available genetic variations, statistically significant or not, can be incorporated into a polygenic score that predict an individual's vulnerability to a disease (Crouch & Bodmer, 2020). Individuals with polygenic scores in highest risk decile for most disorders have odds ratios several times those of individuals in the lowest deciles, but the differences are too small to be useful diagnostically, and they explain only a small percent of the total variation (Hyman, 2018; Martin et al., 2019). Furthermore, it turns out that polygenic risk scores for different mental disorders have significant overlap, further diminishing their diagnostic value (Bornovalova et al., 2020; Caspi et al., 2014). Finally, the relevant alleles differ drastically in different populations; algorithms for polygenic scores that predict schizophrenia risk in Europeans are nearly useless for African populations. In fact, the effects of ancestry are ten times larger than the differences

between patients with schizophrenia and controls (Curtis, 2018).

A consideration of all possible evolutionary explanations for the persistence of genes that create vulnerability for mental illness suggests a range of possibilities (Crespi, 2009; Keller, 2018; Uricchio, 2019; van Dongen & Boomsma, 2013). A first explanation is that mutations keep creating them as fast as natural selection can eliminate them; that is **mutation-selection balance**. This is consistent with data that with increasing paternal age, there are increased de novo mutations in offspring, as well as increased risk for schizophrenia, although it now appears that most of this effect arises from the later marriage age of men who later father children with schizophrenia (Gratten et al., 2016).

A second explanation comes from interactions of previously neutral alleles with novel environments. Neutral variations that vary stochastically across populations and generations can become pathogenic in novel environments. For instance, half of variation in addiction vulnerability (Li & Burmeister, 2009) is attributed to genetic variations, but those variations are harmless in the absence of reliable access to drugs and alcohol. Some argue that preferences for certain chemicals were shaped by ancestral benefits, such as the anti-helminthic actions of nicotine (Hagen et al., 2013), but this seems unlikely given that reward seeking is universal and these variants show tiny effects and massive pleiotropy (Peng et al., 2021). Such variants are genetic quirks rather than defects, with the possible exception of polymorphisms that disrupt aldehyde dehydrogenase and alcohol dehydrogenase and significantly lower risk of alcohol use disorders (Edenberg, 2007). These loci bear genetic signals of selection, but harm from alcohol use may be unimportant compared to other effects in diverse tissues (Polimanti & Gelernter, 2018).

Sharing knowledge about the role of genetics may help to reduce the stigma of addiction and alcoholism in some contexts, and sharing knowledge that the responsible genes are not defective mutations helps to reduce the stigma of genetic disease. It also encourages asking new research questions. How did patients with high genetic risk for addiction behave in ancestral environments? Were their patterns of relationships different from those without genetic vulnerability to addiction? Did they use different foraging strategies from others? Do people with high and low polygenic risk scores for addiction forage differently when picking berries? Could computer games based on such methods provide a behavioral assay for addiction risk?

A third possibility is **balancing selection** that maintains genetic variations that cause disease in the gene pool because they offer benefits in other genetic or external environments. As noted earlier, the case of sickle cell anemia is often cited as a model; the allele for sickle hemoglobin persists because individuals who have it along with a normal allele are resistant to malaria. Such heterozygote advantage is appealing but unlikely to explain mental disorders (Keller, 2018; Keller & Miller, 2006; Nesic et al., 2019; Uricchio, 2019). The ability of natural selection to find better solutions with fewer costs may help to explain the paucity of examples other than those related to malaria (Asthana et al., 2005). While it has been suggested that alleles that predispose to schizophrenia and bipolar disorder also increase creativity or intelligence (Greenwood, 2016), genetic data do not offer strong support (Nesic et al., 2019). Instead, there is evidence for background negative selection on mutation-intolerant loci (Pardiñas et al., 2018).

A fourth kind of explanation is based on tradeoffs, with diametric diseases at opposite ends of a spectrum (Crespi & Badcock, 2008; Crespi & Dinsdale, 2019). This has been proposed to be especially relevant to autism as an extreme systematizing male brain and schizophrenia as an extreme empathizing female brain (Greenberg et al., 2018), with imprinted genes perhaps influencing brain development (Byars et al., 2014; Crespi, 2018; Skuse, 2000). For complex reasons, this hypothesis predicts higher birthweights of children who go on to become autistic vs. those who become schizophrenic; an analysis using the five million subjects in a Danish database supports the prediction (Byars et al., 2014). The concept of diametric diseases has far broader implications for medical genetics (Crespi & Go, 2015).

Cliff-edged fitness functions offer a somewhat different possibility. Some traits give everincreasing benefits up to a peak near a cliff edge where catastrophic failure becomes more likely (Nesse, 2004a, 2019a). For instance, breeding horses for speed increases leg length to an extreme that makes broken bones likely. Traits such as intelligence and social ability that have been under recent strong selection in humans may also be associated with vulnerabilities (Crow, 1997; Dunbar, 1993). Because all members of a species have values close to the cliff edge, all share vulnerability. Offspring of individuals at the peak will be especially vulnerable, but they may not show extraordinary abilities, perhaps explaining the mixed findings in studies of beneficial traits associated with highly heritable diseases. Genetic variations that slightly change the trait's position on the fitness function can be effectively neutral, increasing or decreasing fitness depending on differences in the genetic, developmental, or external environment. Asymmetric fitness functions seem likely to create genetic architectures like those that characterize many disorders, with thousands of variations very slightly increasing the risk of dire disorders that are manifest in about 1% of a population, but the possibility is just now being considered.

This short overview of evolutionary psychiatric genetics merely sketches the landscape and outlines areas for further research. In the meanwhile, evolutionary thinking can help to minimize misconceptions. One particularly important misconception is the tendency to assume that heritable mental disorders are genetic disorders caused by abnormal genes specific to the disorder. This "genes for" error is especially common in reports about genetic studies of common mental disorders. Conditions like eating disorders and major depression are moderately heritable, but there is little reason to think that the responsible genes are defective and even less reason to think that they are specific to the disorder. Instead, myriad genetic variations influence thousands of traits including motivations, cognitive tendencies, food preferences, risk-taking, social strategies, sleep, inflammation, personality, and tendencies to use drugs. Variations in these traits in turn influence life situations and the risk of experiencing a disorder. It is worthwhile to continue searching for rare genes with big effects that may offer clues to pathogenic mechanisms, but most mental disorders are not "genetic disorders."

Practical Implications

Evolutionary psychiatry brings the basic science of evolutionary biology to bear on problems in psychiatry. It is not a school or method of treatment, but its applications will, like those from genetics and neuroscience, emerge over decades. However, evolutionary biology has much to offer even now.

Applications of Evolutionary Biology in Psychiatry

- 1. Integrative framework for the biopsychosocial model
- 2. Nosological controversies
- 3. Clinical assessment
- 4. Treatment planning
- 5. Pharmacology
- 6. Psychotherapy
- 7. Public health
- 8. Psychiatry's place in medicine

The greatest contribution of evolutionary biology is the framework it provides for integrating otherwise disparate aspects of psychiatry. This framework for a biopsychosocial model connects knowledge about how mechanisms work with knowledge about why they are the way they are, and why natural selection has left some vulnerable to failure. It accepts the reality of organic complexity and the need to incorporate bottom-up, top-down, and recursive tangles of causation to understand and treat mental disorders. It explicitly values and incorporates both nomothetic and idiographic knowledge.

This conceptual framework can help to reframe controversies about the definition and classification of mental disorders. The DSM-5 has received a great deal of criticism, particularly from neuroscience. But as many have pointed out, the problem results mainly from disappointment that neuroscience has not found specific causes that map to DSM categories. By emphasizing that biological traits often have fuzzy borders and are underpinned by multiple mechanisms, evolutionary biology helps us appreciate the value of DSM diagnoses even though their categories are nothing like different plant species or chemical elements.

Evolutionary biology also provides a useful framework for assessing patients. A Review of Social Systems, like a medical Review of Sysis crucial for finding causes and tems, distinguishing symptoms from diseases. This supports the efforts of clinicians to fully understand each individual as an individual in order to identify the origins of symptoms and whether they represent an adaptive defense (e.g., most anxiety), a defense that has gone awry (e.g., panic disorder), or a clear dysfunction (e.g., anxiety due to a brain tumor or delusions from schizophrenia). Evolutionary biology uses reproductive success to distinguish successful from unsuccessful traits, but distinctions along the spectrum between defenses, defense dysregulation, and dysfunction entail a range of other more subtle considerations.

An evolutionary framework assists treatment planning. For instance, observers from Freud to Skinner to Kendler have long noted that psychiatric symptoms often emerge when strong drives and intense reward pursuit encounter big risks and uncertainties. An evolutionary perspective helps to explain why, and it provides a behavioral ecological framework for analyzing and trying to resolve such situations. It contributes to understanding why mental disorders so frequently begin during adolescence. It explains why such situations generate high levels of distress, why reducing levels of anxiety is usually safe, and why clinical judgement about such matters needs careful adjudication of the personal and social costs of any particular intervention.

Evolutionary psychiatry offers a useful perspective on psychopharmacology. Instead of replacing deficient neurochemicals, most treatments disrupt normal systems that contribute to symptoms. Animal models that focus on "chemical lesions" may be usefully supplemented by ecologically valid investigation of emotion regulation systems and their disruption by psychotropic agents. An evolutionary approach suggests looking for positive feedback loops that create and sustain disorders and investigating neurochemical mechanisms that alter response thresholds when defensive responses are repeatedly aroused (Nesse & Stein, 2019).

Evolutionary considerations also offer an important perspective on psychotherapy (Abrams, 2020; Gilbert, 1995; Gilbert & Bailey, 2000; McGuire & Troisi, 2006). Some consider psychotherapy as a technique that targets specific dysfunctional cognitions, just as a medication targets particular neurocircuitry, but both models are reductionistic. What happens in psychotherapy can be understood as the product of two primates engaged in a special kind of relationship. This has several implications. First, it's an unusual relationship and so there must be specific kinds of boundaries, with the distance "just right." Second, it has aspects in common with other kinds of relationships, e.g., parenting and alliance-building, which can then be used to think how interventions are experienced and why they might be powerful. Third, there is a lot going on; our standard theories likely capture only a small part of this.

Public health implications are substantial. There has been substantial debate in global mental health about the implications of the mental health paradox, with depression rates significantly higher in better-resourced countries than in lower ones. A simplistic focus on reducing the treatment gap should be replaced by a more nuanced perspective which emphasizes the spectrum from severe illness to wellness, the normality of aversive responses to distress, and the importance of addressing social determinants of illness (Patel et al., 2018; Stein et al., 2013). An evolutionary perspective may help bolster the claim that rather than educating the public about PTSD, we should focus mental health literacy efforts on the importance of resilience (Stein et al., 2007), and it may buttress the search for nudges, such as using taxes to reduce addictions, that might help to reduce mental disorders (Stein et al., 2018).

Finally, evolutionary psychiatry helps to demonstrate that psychiatry is, like all other medical specialties, based on biology. The rest of medicine already uses knowledge about evolved adaptive functions as the basic for understanding pathophysiology, and it is rapidly adopting an evolutionary framework for understanding vulnerability to disease. Taking the same biological approaches demonstrates that psychiatry, like the rest of medicine, offers a biopsychosocial approach, one that may help to reduce useless competion between "schools" of psychiatry that are characterized by simplistic or reductionist approaches that run the risk of being either brainless or mindless (Lipowsky, 1989).

This chapter is a necessarily brief overview. It does not attempt to cover important evolutionary perspectives on eating disorders, obsessivecompulsive disorder, personality disorders, ADHD, and bipolar disorder. It gives short shrift to many applications and specialized ideas about the disorders discussed. Also left out are interesting evolutionary perspectives on psychodynamics, learning theory, complex adaptive systems, cybernetics, epigenetics, the microbiome, immunology, niche construction, sex differences, cultural differences, and religion. Book length treatments and many more articles and chapters are available on those topics for those interested.

While many clinicians are enthusiastic about the future of evolutionary psychiatry, one also needs to be realistic about its prospects. While it offers an integrative framework for the field, clinicians focused on practical issues may be disappointed that it does not offer dramatically new treatments. But this is not a bad thing; in psychiatry, the tail has too often wagged the dog; the introduction of particular psychotherapy methods or pharmacotherapy agents has led to grand theories, which have come and gone. A framework grounded in basic evolutionary biology may prove more sustainable. However, much work is needed for clinicians and researchers to become familiar with methods for testing evolutionary hypotheses, many adapted from comparative primatology or anthropology (Lewis et al., 2017; Nesse, 2011). It is hoped that with new medical curricula focused on evolutionary medicine, such methods will become more familiar.

Conclusion

Evolutionary psychiatry remains, as noted above, in its infancy. Developing its promise will require education of a new generation of physicians and researchers who are familiar with its constructs and methods, and funding to test specific hypotheses. Such work will need to go hand in hand with complementary work on the proximal mechanisms and social determinants that contribute to mental illness. It would be a serious mistake to promise too much too soon or to make unfounded claims for quick development of new cures. But the rapid progress evolutionary thinking has brought to behavioral ecology suggests that it can offer the same to psychiatry and the evolutionary foundations for understanding function in general medicine should offer comparable benefits in psychiatry. At the very least, evolutionary biology answers the call for new directions in psychiatry (Abed & St. John Smith, 2022; Nesse, 2019a, 2023).

An evolutionary view of humans is sometimes viewed as bleak. We are creatures shaped by natural selection to do what is good for our genes, even when that is bad for us and our loved ones. Conflict is inevitable, and responses that entail suffering have been naturally selected. However, natural selection also shaped us to be capable of caring and reason. Our ability to grasp and use knowledge about our evolutionary origins gives us a deeper understanding of the human plight and our patient's problems. That understanding is useful even now. In the long run, it will give us new powers to understand, prevent, and treat mental disorders.

References

- Abed, R. T. (2000). Psychiatry and Darwinism: Time to reconsider? *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.177.1.1
- Abed, R. T., & St John-Smith, P. (2016). Evolutionary psychiatry: A new college special interest group.

BJPsych Bull, 40(5), 233–236. https://doi.org/10. 1192/pb.bp.115.052407

- Abed, R. T., & St. John Smith, P. (Eds.). (2022). Evolutionary psychiatry: Current perspectives on evolution and mental health. Cambridge University Press.
- Abed, R. T., Ayton, A., St John-Smith, P., Swanepoel, A., & Tracy, D. K. (2019). Evolutionary biology: An essential basic science for the training of the next generation of psychiatrists. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2019.123
- Abrams, M. (2020). *The new CBT: Clinical evolutionary psychology*. Cognella Academic Publishing.
- Ahmed, S. H. (2018). "A walk on the wild side" of addiction: The history and significance of animal models. In H. Pickard & S. H. Ahmed (Eds.), *Routledge handbook* on philosophy and science of addiction (pp. 192–203).
- Akil, H., Brenner, S., Kandel, E., Kendler, K. S., King, M.-C., Scolnick, E., Watson, J. D., & Zoghbi, H. Y. (2010). The future of psychiatric research: Genomes and neural circuits. *Science*, 327(5973), 1580–1581.
- Akiskal, H. S. (1996). The prevalent clinical spectrum of bipolar disorders: Beyond DSM-IV. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 16(2 Suppl 1), 4S–14S.
- Akiskal, K. K., & Akiskal, H. S. (2005). The theoretical underpinnings of affective temperaments: Implications for evolutionary foundations of bipolar disorder and human nature. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 85(1), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2004.08.002
- Alcock, J. (2001). The triumph of sociobiology. Oxford University Press.
- Alcock, J. (2013). Animal behavior: An evolutionary approach (17267880, 10th ed.). Sinauer Associates.
- Alcock, J., & Sherman, P. (2010). The utility of the proximate-ultimate dichotomy in ethology. *Ethology*, 96(1), 58–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310. 1994.tb00881.x
- Al-Shawaf, L., & Shackelford, T. (2023). The oxford handbook of evolution and the emotions. Oxford University Press.
- Al-Shawaf, L., Conroy-Beam, D., Asao, K., & Buss, D. M. (2016). Human emotions: An evolutionary psychological perspective. *Emotion Review*, 8(2), 173–186. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073914565518
- Alvergne, A., Jenkinson, C., & Faurie, C. (2016). Evolutionary thinking in medicine: From research to policy and practice. Springer.
- Andrews, P. W., & Thomson, J. A. (2009). The bright side of being blue: Depression as an adaptation for analyzing complex problems. *Psychological Review*, *116*(3), 620–654. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016242
- Apicella, C. L., & Silk, J. B. (2019). The evolution of human cooperation. *Current Biology*, 29(11), R447–R450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019. 03.036
- Archer, J. (2003). *The nature of grief: The evolution and psychology of reactions to loss*. Routledge.
- Asthana, S., Schmidt, S., & Sunyaev, S. (2005). A limited role for balancing selection. *Trends in Genetics*, 21(1), 30–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2004.11.001

- Austad, S. N., & Hoffman, J. M. (2018). Is antagonistic pleiotropy ubiquitous in aging biology? *Evolution*, *Medicine, and Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1093/ emph/eoy033
- Axelrod, R. M. (1997). The complexity of cooperation: Agent-based models of competition and collaboration. Princeton University Press.
- Barkow, J., Cosmides, L., & Tooby, J. (Eds.). (1992). *The adapted mind*. Oxford University Press.
- Barnes, M. E., Evans, E. M., Hazel, A., Brownell, S. E., & Nesse, R. M. (2017). Teleological reasoning, not acceptance of evolution, impacts students' ability to learn natural selection. *Evolution: Education and Outreach*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12052-017-0070-6
- Baron-Cohen, S. (Ed.). (1997). *The maladapted mind*. Psychology Press.
- Baron-Cohen, S. (2000). The cognitive neuroscience of autism: Implications for the evolution of the male brain. The Cognitive Neurosciences.
- Bateson, M., Brilot, B., & Nettle, D. (2011). Anxiety: An evolutionary approach. *Canadian Journal of Psychia*try. Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie, 56(12), 707–715.
- Baxter, A. J., Scott, K. M., Ferrari, A. J., Norman, R. E., Vos, T., & Whiteford, H. A. (2014). Challenging the myth of an "epidemic" of common mental disorders: Trends in the global prevalence of anxiety and depression between 1990 and 2010. *Depression and Anxiety*, *31*(6), 506–516. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22230
- Beck, A. T., & Bredemeier, K. (2016). A unified model of depression integrating clinical, cognitive, biological, and evolutionary perspectives. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 2167702616628523. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2167702616628523
- Beesdo, K., Knappe, S., & Pine, D. S. (2009). Anxiety and anxiety disorders in children and adolescents: Developmental issues and implications for DSM-V. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 32(3), 483–524. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2009.06.002
- Belsky, J. (1999). Modern evolutionary theory and patterns of attachment. In J. Cassidy, P. R. Shaver, J. Cassidy, & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications* (pp. 141–161). Guilford Press.
- Bergstrom, C. T., & Dugatkin, L. A. (2012). Evolution (16949376, 1st ed.). Norton.
- Berridge, K. C. (1996). Food reward: Brain substrates of wanting and liking. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 20(1), 1–25.
- Bifulco, A., Brown, G. W., Moran, P., Ball, C., & Campbell, C. (1998). Predicting depression in women: The role of past and present vulnerability. *Psychological Medicine*, 28(1), 39–50.
- Bjorklund, D. F., & Pellegrini, A. D. (2002). The origins of human nature: Evolutionary developmental psychology. American Psychological Association.
- Bornovalova, M. A., Choate, A. M., Fatimah, H., Petersen, K. J., & Wiernik, B. M. (2020). Appropriate use of bifactor analysis in psychopathology research:

Appreciating benefits and limitations. *Biological Psychiatry*, 88(1), 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2020.01.013

- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment theory, separation anxiety, and mourning, 6.
- Bravo Núñez, M. A., Nuckolls, N. L., & Zanders, S. E. (2018). Genetic villains: Killer meiotic drivers. *Trends* in *Genetics*, 34(6), 424–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tig.2018.02.003
- Brown, G. W., Harris, T. O., & Hepworth, C. (1995). Loss, humiliation and entrapment among women developing depression: A patient and non-patient comparison. *Psychological Medicine*, 25(1), 7–21.
- Brüne, M. (2014). On aims and methods of psychiatry A reminiscence of 50 years of Tinbergen's famous questions about the biology of behavior. *BMC Psychiatry*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-014-0364-y
- Brüne, M. (2015). Textbook of evolutionary psychiatry and psychosomatic medicine: The origins of psychopathology. Oxford University Press.
- Brüne, M. (2016). Borderline personality disorder: Why 'fast and furious'? *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health, 2016*(1), 52–66.
- Brüne, M., & Schiefenhövel, W. (2019). *The Oxford handbook of evolutionary medicine*. Oxford University Press.
- Brüne, M., Belsky, J., FaBrega, H., FeierMan, J. R., Gilbert, P., Glantz, K., PoliMeni, J., Price, J. S., Sanjuan, J., Sullivan, R., Troisi, A., & Wilson, D. R. (2012). The crisis of psychiatry Insights and prospects from evolutionary theory. *World Psychiatry*, 11(1), 55–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wpsyc.2012.01.009
- Buller, D. J. (2005). Evolutionary psychology: The emperor's new paradigm. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(6), 277–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005. 04.003
- Burt, A., & Trivers, R. L. (2006). Genes in conflict: The biology of selfish genetic elements. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Buss, D. M. (1995). Evolutionary psychology: A new paradigm for psychological science. *Psychological Inquiry*, 6(1), 1–30.
- Buss, D. M. (2000). The evolution of happiness. American Psychologist, 55(1), 15–23.
- Buss, D. M. (2015). The handbook of evolutionary psychology (Vol. 1). John Wiley & Sons.
- Buss, D. M., Shackelford, T. K., Kirkpatrick, L. A., Choe, J. C., Lim, H. K., Hasegawa, M., Hasegawa, T., & Bennett, K. (1999). Jealousy and the nature of beliefs about infidelity: Tests of competing hypotheses about sex differences in the United States, Korea, and Japan. *Personal Relationships*, 6(1), 125–150.
- Byars, S. G., Stearns, S. C., & Boomsma, J. J. (2014). Opposite risk patterns for autism and schizophrenia are associated with normal variation in birth size: Phenotypic support for hypothesized diametric genedosage effects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 281(1794), 20140604. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb. 2014.0604

- Carew, T. J., Hawkins, R. D., & Kandel, E. R. (1983). Differential classical conditioning of a defensive withdrawal reflex in Aplysia californica. *Science*, 219(4583), 397–400.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1990). Origins and functions of positive and negative affect: A control-process view. *Psychological Review*, 97(1), 19–35. https://doi. org/10.1037/0033-295X.97.1.19
- Caspi, A., Houts, R. M., Belsky, D. W., Goldman-Mellor, S. J., Harrington, H., Israel, S., Meier, M. H., Ramrakha, S., Shalev, I., Poulton, R., & Moffitt, T. E. (2014). The p factor: One general psychopathology factor in the structure of psychiatric disorders? *Clinical Psychological Science*, 2(2), 119–137. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2167702613497473
- Charnov, E. L. (1976). Optimal foraging: The marginal value theorem. *Theoretical and Population Biology*, 9, 129–136.
- Chisholm, J. S. (1996). The evolutionary ecology of attachment organization. *Hu Nat*, 7(1), 1–37. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF02733488
- Cohen, S., Kessler, R. C., & Gordon, L. U. (1997). Measuring stress: A guide for health and social scientists. Oxford University Press.
- Confer, J. C., Easton, J. A., Fleischman, D. S., Goetz, C. D., Lewis, D. M. G., Perilloux, C., & Buss, D. M. (2010). Evolutionary psychology: Controversies, questions, prospects, and limitations. *American Psychologist*, 65(2), 110–126. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018413
- Cory, G. A. (2002). MacLean's evolutionary neuroscience, the CSN model and Hamilton's rule: Some developmental, clinical, and social policy implications. *Brain* and Mind, 3(1), 151–181. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1016514009636
- Cosmides, L., & Tooby, J. (1987). From evolution to behavior: Evolutionary psychology as the missing link. In J. Dupre (Ed.), *The latest on the best: Essays on evolution and optimality*. MIT Press.
- Cozolino, L. J. (2014). The neuroscience of human relationships: Attachment and the developing social brain (2nd ed.). W.W. Norton & Company.
- Crespi, B. J. (2000). The evolution of maladaptation. *Heredity*, 84(6), 623–629. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1365-2540.2000.00746.x
- Crespi, B. J. (2009). Evolutionary genetics of affective disorders. In C. Pariante, R. M. Nesse, D. Nutt, L. Wolpert, C. Pariante, R. M. Nesse, D. Nutt, & L. Wolpert (Eds.), *Understanding depression* (pp. 37–54). http:// oxfordmedicine.com/view/10.1093/med/9780199533077. 001.0001/med-9780199533077-chapter-004
- Crespi, B. J. (2010). The origins and evolution of genetic disease risk in modern humans: Evolution of human disease risk. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1206(1), 80–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1749-6632.2010.05707.x
- Crespi, B. J. (2018). Autism, psychosis, and genomic imprinting: Recent discoveries and conundrums.

Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 25, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.05.008

- Crespi, B. J., & Badcock, C. (2008). Psychosis and autism as diametrical disorders of the social brain. *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 31(03). https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0140525X08004214
- Crespi, B. J., & Dinsdale, N. (2019). Autism and psychosis as diametrical disorders of embodiment. *Evolution*, *Medicine, and Public Health, eoz021*. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/emph/eoz021
- Crespi, B. J., & Go, M. C. (2015). Diametrical diseases reflect evolutionary-genetic tradeoffs: Evidence from psychiatry, neurology, rheumatology, oncology and immunology. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health*, 2015(1), 216–253.
- Crespi, B. J., Foster, K., & Úbeda, F. (2014). First principles of Hamiltonian medicine. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 369(1642). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0366
- Crouch, D. J. M., & Bodmer, W. F. (2020). Polygenic inheritance, GWAS, polygenic risk scores, and the search for functional variants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(32), 18924–18933. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2005634117
- Crow, T. J. (1997). Is schizophrenia the price that Homo sapiens pays for language? *Schizophrenia Research*, 28(2–3), 127–141.
- Curtis, D. (2018). Polygenic risk score for schizophrenia is more strongly associated with ancestry than with schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Genetics*, 28(5), 85–89. https://doi.org/10.1097/YPG.00000000000206
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1981). Abuse and neglect of children in evolutionary perspective. Chiron Press.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1983). Sex, evolution, and behavior (2nd ed.). Willard Grant Press.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1988a). Evolutionary social psychology and family homicide. *Science*, 242(4878), 519–524.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1988b). The Darwinian psychology of discriminative parental solicitude. *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, 35, 91–144.
- Darwin, C. (1998). The expression of the emotions in man and animals. Oxford University Press.
- Darwin, C., & Darwin, F. (1887). The life and letters of Charles Darwin, including an autobiographical chapter (3rd ed.). J. Murray.
- Dawkins, R. (1976). *The selfish gene*. Oxford University Press.
- Del Giudice, M. (2016). The life history model of psychopathology explains the structure of psychiatric disorders and the emergence of the p factor: A simulation study. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 4(2), 299–311.
- Del Giudice, M., & Crespi, B. J. (2018). Basic functional trade-offs in cognition: An integrative framework. *Cognition*, 179, 56–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2018.06.008
- Dettwyler, K. A. (1995). A time to wean: The hominid blueprint for the natural age of weaning in modern

human populations. In P. Stuart-Macadam & K. A. Dettwyler (Eds.), *Breastfeeding: Biocultural perspectives* (pp. 39–73). Aldine de Gruyter.

- Diener, E., Lucas, R. E., & Scollon, C. N. (2006). Beyond the hedonic treadmill: Revising the adaptation theory of well-being. *American Psychologist*, 61(4), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.61.4.305
- Douglas, M. (1966). *Purity and danger: An analysis of concepts of pollution and taboo*. Routledge and Keegan Paul.
- Doyle, C., Swain, W. A., Swain Ewald, H. A., & Ewald, P. W. (2019). Inflammation, infection and depression: An evolutionary perspective. *Evolutionary Human Sciences*, *1*, e14. https://doi.org/10.1017/ehs.2019.15
- Driscoll, C. (2005). Killing babies: Hrdy on the evolution of infanticide. *Biology and Philosophy*, 20(2), 271–289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10539-004-0680-6
- Dudley, R. (2002). Fermenting fruit and the historical ecology of ethanol ingestion: Is alcoholism in modern humans an evolutionary hangover? *Addiction*, 97(4), 381–388.
- Dugatkin, L. A. (1997). *Cooperation among animals: An evolutionary perspective*. Oxford University Press.
- Dunbar, R. I. M. (2020). Evolution: What everyone needs to know[®] (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Dunbar, R. I. M. (1993). Coevolution of neocortical size, group size and language in humans. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 16(04), 681–694.
- Edenberg, H. J. (2007). The genetics of alcohol. *Metabolism*, 30(1), 9.
- Ekman, P. (2003). Emotions inside out: 130 years after Darwin's the expression of the emotions in man and animals. NYAS.
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1986). A new pan-cultural facial expression of emotion. *Motivation and Emotion*, 10(2), 159–168.
- Ellis, B. J., & Del Giudice, M. (2014). Beyond allostatic load: Rethinking the role of stress in regulating human development. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(01), 1–20.
- Erickson, M. T. (1993). Rethinking Oedipus: An evolutionary perspective of incest avoidance. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 150(3), 411–416. https://doi. org/10.1176/ajp.150.3.411
- Ewald, P. W. (2018). Darwinian medicine: Evolutionary approaches to disease. In H. Callan (Ed.), *The international encyclopedia of anthropology* (pp. 1–9). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781118924396.wbiea1862
- Finlay-Jones, R., & Brown, G. (1981). Types of stressful life events and the onset of anxiety and depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 11, 803–815.
- First, M. B., & Wakefield, J. C. (2013). Diagnostic criteria as dysfunction indicators: Bridging the chasm between the definition of mental disorder and diagnostic criteria for specific disorders. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(12), 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 070674371305801203

- Fraley, R. C., Brumbaugh, C. C., & Marks, M. J. (2005). The evolution and function of adult attachment: A comparative and phylogenetic analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(5), 731.
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1367–1378. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb. 2004.1512
- Fried, E. I., Nesse, R. M., Zivin, K., Guille, C., & Sen, S. (2014). Depression is more than the sum score of its parts: Individual DSM symptoms have different risk factors. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(10), 2067–2076. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713002900
- Galbally, M., Lewis, A. J., & IJzendoorn, M. van, & Permezel, M. (2011). The role of oxytocin in motherinfant relations: A systematic review of human studies. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 19(1), 1–14. https://doi. org/10.3109/10673229.2011.549771
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (1992). Nature's mind: The biological roots of thinking, emotions, sexuality, language, and intelligence. Basic Books.
- Gelles, R. J., & Lancaster, J. B. (1987). Child abuse and neglect: Biosocial dimensions. Aldine De Gruyter.
- Ghaemi, S. N. (2010). The rise and fall of the biopsychosocial model: Reconciling art and science in psychiatry. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Gilbert, P. (1992). Depression: The evolution of powerlessness. Guilford.
- Gilbert, P. (1995). Biopsychosocial approaches and evolutionary theory as aids to integration in clinical psychology and psychotherapy. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 2(3), 135–156.
- Gilbert, P. (2006). Evolution and depression: Issues and implications. *Psychological Medicine*, 36(03), 287–297.
- Gilbert, P., & Bailey, K. G. (2000). *Genes on the couch: Explorations in evolutionary psychotherapy.* Taylor & Francis.
- Gluckman, P. D., & Hanson, M. (2006). Mismatch: Why our world no longer fits our bodies. Oxford University Press.
- Gluckman, P. D., Beedle, A., & Hanson, M. (2009). Principles of evolutionary medicine. Oxford University Press.
- Gluckman, P. D., Hanson, M. A., & Low, F. M. (2019). Evolutionary and developmental mismatches are consequences of adaptive developmental plasticity in humans and have implications for later disease risk. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 374(1770), 20180109. https:// doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0109
- Gratten, J., Wray, N. R., Keller, M. C., & Visscher, P. M. (2014). Large-scale genomics unveils the genetic architecture of psychiatric disorders. *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(6), 782–790.
- Gratten, J., Wray, N. R., Peyrot, W. J., McGrath, J. J., Visscher, P. M., & Goddard, M. E. (2016). Risk of psychiatric illness from advanced paternal age is not

predominantly from de novo mutations. *Nature Genetics*, 48(7), 718–724. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3577

- Greenberg, D. M., Warrier, V., Allison, C., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2018). Testing the empathizing–systemizing theory of sex differences and the extreme male brain theory of autism in half a million people. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(48), 12152–12157. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1811032115
- Greenwood, T. A. (2016). Positive traits in the bipolar spectrum: The space between madness and genius. *Molecular Neuropsychiatry*, 2(4), 198–212. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000452416
- Griffiths, P. E. (1997). What emotions really are: The problem of psychological categories. University of Chicago Press.
- Griffiths, P. E., & Matthewson, J. (2018). Evolution, dysfunction, and disease: A reappraisal. *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, 69(2), 301–327.
- Gruber, J. (2011). Can feeling too good be bad? Positive emotion persistence (PEP) in bipolar disorder. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(4), 217–221. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411414632
- Grunspan, D. Z., Nesse, R. M., Barnes, M. E., & Brownell, S. E. (2018). Core principles of evolutionary medicine. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health, 2018*(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/emph/eox025
- Grunspan, D. Z., Moeller, K. T., Nesse, R. M., & Brownell, S. E. (2019). The state of evolutionary medicine in undergraduate education. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health, 2019*(1), 82–92. https://doi.org/10. 1093/emph/eoz012
- Gulsuner, S., Stein, D. J., Susser, E. S., Sibeko, G., Pretorius, A., Walsh, T., Majara, L., Mndini, M. M., Mqulwana, S. G., Ntola, O. A., Casadei, S., Ngqengelele, L. L., Korchina, V., van der Merwe, C., Malan, M., Fader, K. M., Feng, M., Willoughby, E., Muzny, D., et al. (2020). Genetics of schizophrenia in the South African Xhosa. *Science*, 367(6477), 569–573. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay8833
- Hagen, E. H. (2011). Evolutionary theories of depression: A critical review. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *56*(12), 716–726.
- Hagen, E. H., Roulette, C. J., & Sullivan, R. J. (2013). Explaining human recreational use of 'pesticides': The neurotoxin regulation model of substance use vs. the hijack model and implications for age and sex differences in drug consumption. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00142
- Haig, D. (2020). From Darwin to Derrida: Selfish genes, social selves, and the meanings of life. MIT Press.
- Hamilton, W. D. (1964). The genetical evolution of social behavior I, and II. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 7, 1–52.
- Hammen, C. (2005). Stress and depression. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 1(1), 293–319. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.143938

- Hammerstein, P. (2003). Genetic and cultural evolution of cooperation. MIT Press.
- Hardy, C. L., & Van Vugt, M. (2006). Nice guys finish first: The competitive altruism hypothesis. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32(10), 1402–1413. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167206291006
- Harlow, H. F., & Harlow, M. K. (1962). Social deprivation in monkeys. *Scientific American*, 207, 136–146.
- Harris, C. R. (2003). Factors associated with jealousy over real and imagined infidelity: An examination of the social-cognitive and evolutionary psychology perspectives. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 27(4), 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-6402.00112
- Hart, B. L. (1988). Biological basis of the behavior of sick animals. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 12(2), 123–137.
- Haselton, M. G., & Buss, D. M. (2000). Error management theory: A new perspective on biases in cross-sex mind reading. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(1), 81.
- Haselton, M. G., & Ketelaar, T. (2006). Irrational emotions or emotional wisdom? The evolutionary psychology of affect and social behavior. *Affect in Social Thinking and Behavior*, 8, 21.
- Heckhausen, J., & Schultz, R. (1995). A life-span theory of control. *Psychological Review*, 102(2), 284–304.
- Hill, E. M., & Newlin, D. B. (2002). Evolutionary approaches to addiction. Addiction, 97(4), 375–379.
- Hrdy, S. B. (2009). Mothers and others: The evolutionary origins of mutual understanding. Harvard University Press. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=& id=dsiksDFQPDsC&oi=fnd&pg=PA1&dq=sarah +hrdy&ots=81GpaWr7W1&sig=gQqWvcZ9B_ jd6zgHBGVwEMDCIOI
- Hutcherson, C. A., Montaser-Kouhsari, L., Woodward, J., & Rangel, A. (2015). Emotional and utilitarian appraisals of moral dilemmas are encoded in separate areas and integrated in ventromedial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(36), 12593–12605. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3402-14.2015
- Hyman, S. E. (2018). The daunting polygenicity of mental illness: Making a new map. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 373(1742), 20170031. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2017.0031
- Insel, T. R. (2000). Toward a neurobiology of attachment. *Review of General Psychology*, 4(2), 176–185.
- Insel, T. R., & Quirion, R. (2005). Psychiatry as a clinical neuroscience discipline. JAMA, 294(17), 2221–2224. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.294.17.2221
- Insel, T. R., & Young, L. J. (2001). The neurobiology of attachment. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 2(2), 129– 136.
- Insel, T. R., Cuthbert, B., Garvey, M., Heinssen, R., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K., Sanislow, C., & Wang, P. (2010). Research domain criteria (RDoC): Toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders.

The American Journal of Psychiatry, 167(7), 748–751. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09091379

- Jasienska, G., Ellison, P. T., Galbarczyk, A., Jasienski, M., Kalemba-Drozdz, M., Kapiszewska, M., Nenko, I., Thune, I., & Ziomkiewicz, A. (2015). Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) polymorphism is related to differences in potential fertility in women: A case of antagonistic pleiotropy? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1803), 20142395. https://doi.org/ 10.1098/rspb.2014.2395
- Kaas, J. H. (2020). Evolutionary neuroscience. Academic Press.
- Kandel, E. R., Schwartz, J. H., & Jessell, T. M. (2000). *Principles of neural science* (11769631, 4th ed.). McGraw-Hill, Health Professions Division.
- Keller, M. C. (2018). Evolutionary perspectives on genetic and environmental risk factors for psychiatric disorders. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 14(1), 471–493. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084854
- Keller, M. C., & Miller, G. (2006). Resolving the paradox of common, harmful, heritable mental disorders: Which evolutionary genetic models work best? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 29(4), 385–404. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0140525X06009095
- Keller, M. C., & Nesse, R. M. (2006). The evolutionary significance of depressive symptoms: Different adverse situations lead to different depressive symptom patterns. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *91*(2), 316–330. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514. 91.2.316
- Kendler, K. S. (2012). The dappled nature of causes of psychiatric illness: Replacing the organic–functional/ hardware–software dichotomy with empirically based pluralism. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(4), 377–388. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2011.182
- Kendler, K. S. (2013). What psychiatric genetics has taught us about the nature of psychiatric illness and what is left to learn. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(10), 1058–1066. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.50
- Kendler, K. S., Eaves, L. J., Walters, E. E., Neale, M. C., Heath, A. C., & Kessler, R. C. (1996). The identification and validation of distinct depressive syndromes in a population-based sample of female twins. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 53(5), 391–399.
- Kennair, L. E. O. (2007). Fear and fitness revisited. Journal of Evolutionary Psychology, 5(1), 105–117.
- Kennair, L. E. O., Kleppestø, T. H., Larsen, S. M., & Jørgensen, B. E. G. (2017). Depression: Is rumination really adaptive? In T. K. Shackelford & V. Zeigler-Hill (Eds.), *The evolution of psychopathology* (pp. 73–92). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-60576-0_3
- Kennair, L. E. O., Kleppestø, T. H., Jørgensen, B. E. G., & Larsen, S. M. (2018). Evolutionary clinical psychology. In T. K. Shackelford, V. A. Weekes-Shackelford, T. K. Shackelford, & V. A. Weekes-Shackelford (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of evolutionary psychological science*

(pp. 1–14). http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-16999-6 688-1

- Kessler, R. C. (1997). The effects of stressful life events on depression. Annual Review of Psychology, 48(1), 191–214.
- Kessler, R. C., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Chatterji, S., Lee, S., Ormel, J., Üstün, T. B., & Wang, P. S. (2009). The global burden of mental disorders: An update from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) surveys. *Epidemiologia e Psichiatria Sociale*, 18(01), 23–33.
- Klinger, E. (1975). Consequences of commitment to and disengagement from incentives. *Psychological Review*, 82, 1–25.
- Konner, M. (1983). The tangled wing: Biological constraints on the human spirit. Penguin.
- Krebs, J. R., & Davies, N. B. (1993). An introduction to behavioural ecology (3rd ed.). Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- Kringelbach, M. L., & Berridge, K. C. (2016). Neuroscience of reward, motivation, and drive. In *Recent devel*opments in neuroscience research on human motivation. Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Kruger, D. J., & Nesse, R. M. (2006). An evolutionary lifehistory framework for understanding sex differences in human mortality rates. *Human Nature*, 17(1), 74–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-006-1021-z
- Lakoff, G., & Johnson, M. (2010). *Philosophy in the flesh: The embodied mind and its challenge to Western thought (Nachdr.)*. Basic Books.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993). From psychological stress to the emotions: A history of changing outlooks. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 44(1), 1–22.
- LeDoux, J. E. (2012a). Evolution of human emotion. Progress in Brain Research, 195, 431–442. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-444-53860-4.00021-0
- LeDoux, J. E. (2012b). Rethinking the emotional brain. *Neuron*, 73(4), 653–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2012.02.004
- LeDoux, J. E., & Pine, D. S. (2016). Using neuroscience to help understand fear and anxiety: A two-system framework. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 173(11), 1083–1093. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2016. 16030353
- Lewin, K. (1951). Problems of research in social psychology. In D. Cartwright (Ed.), *Field theory in social science: Selected theoretical papers* (pp. 155–169). Harper & Row.
- Lewis, D. M., Al-Shawaf, L., Conroy-Beam, D., Asao, K., & Buss, D. M. (2017). Evolutionary psychology: A how-to guide. *American Psychologist*, 72(4), 353.
- Li, M. D., & Burmeister, M. (2009). New insights into the genetics of addiction. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(4), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2536
- Lieberman, D., Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (2003). Does morality have a biological basis? An empirical test of the factors governing moral sentiments relating to

incest. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological, 270(1517), 819–826.

- Lionetti, F., Aron, A., Aron, E. N., Burns, G. L., Jagiellowicz, J., & Pluess, M. (2018). Dandelions, tulips and orchids: Evidence for the existence of low-sensitive, medium-sensitive and high-sensitive individuals. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1), 24. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41398-017-0090-6
- Lipowsky, Z. J. (1989). Psychiatry: Mindless or brainless, both or neither. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry.*, 34, 249–254.
- Luhrmann, T. (2000). Of two minds: The growing disorder in American psychiatry. Knopf.
- Lynch, M., Ackerman, M. S., Gout, J.-F., Long, H., Sung, W., Thomas, W. K., & Foster, P. L. (2016). Genetic drift, selection and the evolution of the mutation rate. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 17(11), 704–714. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrg.2016.104
- Mace, R., Jordan, F., & Holden, C. (2003). Testing evolutionary hypotheses about human biological adaptation using cross-cultural comparison. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 136*(1), 85–94.
- MacLean, P. D. (1985). Evolutionary psychiatry and the triune brain. *Psychological Medicine*, 15(2), 219–221. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291700023485
- MacLean, P. D. (1990). *The triune brain in evolution*. Plenum.
- Main, M. (2000). The organized categories of infant, child, and adult attachment: Flexible vs. inflexible attention under attachment-related stress. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 48(4), 1055–1096; discussion 1175–1187.
- Maj, M., Stein, D. J., Parker, G., Zimmerman, M., Fava, G. A., De Hert, M., Demyttenaere, K., McIntyre, R. S., Widiger, T., & Wittchen, H. (2020). The clinical characterization of the adult patient with depression aimed at personalization of management. *World Psychiatry*, 19(3), 269–293. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20771
- Marais, L., Daniels, W., Brand, L., Viljoen, F., Hugo, C., & Stein, D. J. (2006). Psychopharmacology of maternal separation anxiety in vervet monkeys. *Metabolic Brain Disease*, 21(2–3), 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11011-006-9011-8
- Marks, I. M., & Nesse, R. M. (1994). Fear and fitness: An evolutionary analysis of anxiety disorders. *Ethology* and Sociobiology, 15, 247–261.
- Martin, A. R., Daly, M. J., Robinson, E. B., Hyman, S. E., & Neale, B. M. (2019). Predicting polygenic risk of psychiatric disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 86(2), 97–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018. 12.015
- Matthewson, J., & Griffiths, P. E. (2017). Biological criteria of disease: Four ways of going wrong. The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy: A Forum for Bioethics and Philosophy of Medicine, 42(4), 447–466. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmp/jhx004

- Mayr, E. (1961). Cause and effect in biology: Kinds of causes, predictability, and teleology are viewed by a practicing biologist. *Science*, 134(3489), 1501–1506.
- Mayr, E. (1993). Proximate and ultimate causations. *Biology and Philosophy*, 8(1), 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00868508
- McGuire, M. T. (1976). An ethological approach to psychiatric disorders and treatment systems. *McLean Hospital Journal*, 1, 21–33.
- McGuire, M. T., & Fairbanks, L. A. (1977). *Ethological* psychiatry: Psychopathology in the context of evolutionary biology (M. Greenblatt, Ed.). Grune and Stratton.
- McGuire, M. T., & Troisi, A. (1987). Physiological regulation-dysregulation and psychiatric disorders. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 8, 9s–12s.
- McGuire, M. T., & Troisi, A. (2006). Steps toward an evolutionary-based theory of psychotherapy–I. *Clini*cal Neuropsychiatry, 3, 162–169.
- McGuire, M. T., Essock-Vitale, S. M., & Polsky, R. H. (1981). Psychiatric disorders in the context of evolutionary biology: An ethological model of behavioral changes associated with psychiatric disorders. *Journal* of Nervous and Mental Disease, 169(11), 687–704.
- McGuire, M. T., Marks, I. M., Nesse, R. M., & Troisi, A. (1992). Evolutionary biology: A basic science for psychiatry. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 86, 89–96.
- McNamara, J. M., & Trimmer, P. C. (2019). Sequential choices using signal detection theory can reverse classical predictions. *Behavioral Ecology*, 30(1), 16–19. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ary132
- Meacham, F., & Bergstrom, C. T. (2016). Adaptive behavior can produce maladaptive anxiety due to individual differences in experience. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health, 2016*(1), 270–285. https://doi.org/10. 1093/emph/eow024
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2012). An attachment perspective on psychopathology. *World Psychiatry*, 11, 11–15.
- Miller, A. H., & Raison, C. L. (2016). The role of inflammation in depression: From evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 16(1), 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Miller, G. E., & Wrosch, C. (2007). You've Gotta know when to Fold'Em goal disengagement and systemic inflammation in adolescence. *Psychological Science*, 18(9), 773–777.
- Murphy, D., & Stich, S. (2011). Evolutionary psychology and the classification of mental disorders. *Collected Papers, Volume 1: Mind and Language, 1972–2010,* 1, 270.
- Murphy, D., Stich, S., Carruthers, P., & Chamberlain, A. (2000). Darwin in the madhouse: Evolutionary psychology and the classification of mental disorders. In *Evolution and the human mind: Modularity, language and meta-cognition* (pp. 62–92).
- Muscatell, K. A., Slavich, G. M., Monroe, S. M., & Gotlib, I. H. (2009). Stressful life events, chronic difficulties,

and the symptoms of clinical depression. *The Journal* of Nervous and Mental Disease, 197(3), 154.

- Natterson-Horowitz, B. (2019). Tinbergean approach to clinical medicine. In *Integrating evolutionary biology into medical education: For maternal and child healthcare students, clinicians, and scientists* (pp. 187–197). Oxford University Press.
- Natterson-Horowitz, B., & Bowers, K. (2019). Wildhood: The epic journey from adolescence to adulthood in humans and other animals. Scribe Publications.
- Nesic, M. J., Stojkovic, B., & Maric, N. P. (2019). On the origin of schizophrenia: Testing evolutionary theories in the post-genomic era. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 73(12), 723–730. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pcn.12933
- Nesse, R. M. (1984). An evolutionary perspective on psychiatry. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 25(6), 575–580.
- Nesse, R. M. (1990). Evolutionary explanations of emotions. *Human Nature*, 1(3), 261–289.
- Nesse, R. M. (1999). Proximate and evolutionary studies of anxiety, stress and depression: Synergy at the interface. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 23(7), 895–903.
- Nesse, R. M. (2000). Is depression an adaptation? Archives of General Psychiatry, 57(1), 14–20.
- Nesse, R. M. (2004a). Cliff-edged fitness functions and the persistence of schizophrenia (commentary). *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 27(6), 862–863.
- Nesse, R. M. (2004b). Natural selection and the elusiveness of happiness. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1333–1347. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1511
- Nesse, R. M. (2005a). An evolutionary framework for understanding grief. In D. Carr, R. Nesse, & C. B. Wortman (Eds.), *Late life widowhood in the United States* (pp. 195–226). Springer.
- Nesse, R. M. (2005b). Twelve crucial points about emotions, evolution and mental disorders. *Psychology Review*, 11(4), 12–14.
- Nesse, R. M. (2005c). Natural selection and the regulation of defenses. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 26(1), 88–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav. 2004.08.002
- Nesse, R. M. (2005d). Maladaptation and natural selection. Quarterly Review of Biology, 80(1), 62–70.
- Nesse, R. M. (2006). The smoke detector principle: Natural selection and the regulation of defensive responses. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 935(1), 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001. tb03472.x
- Nesse, R. M. (2007). Runaway social selection for displays of partner value and altruism. *Biological Theory*, 2(2), 143–155.
- Nesse, R. M. (2009). Explaining depression: Neuroscience is not enough, evolution is essential. In C. M. Pariente, R. M. Nesse, D. J. Nutt, L. Wolpert, C. M. Pariente, R. M. Nesse, D. J. Nutt, & L. Wolpert (Eds.), Understanding depression: A translational approach (pp. 17–35). Oxford University Press.

- Nesse, R. M. (2011). Ten questions for evolutionary studies of disease vulnerability. *Evolutionary Applications*, 4(2), 264–277. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571. 2010.00181.x
- Nesse, R. M. (2013). Tinbergen's four questions, organized: A response to Bateson and Laland. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 28(12), 681–682.
- Nesse, R. M. (2019a). *Good reasons for bad feelings: Insights from the frontier of evolutionary psychiatry.* Dutton Books.
- Nesse, R. M. (2019b). Tinbergen's four questions: Two proximate, two evolutionary. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health*, (1), 2–2. https://doi.org/10.1093/ emph/eoy035
- Nesse, R. M. (2020). Tacit creationism in emotions research. Emotion Researcher, ISRE's Sourcebook for Research on Emotion and Affect. http://emotionre searcher.com/tacit-creationism-in-emotion-research/
- Nesse, R. M. (2023). Evolutionary psychiatry: Foundations, progress and challenges. *World Psychiatry*, 22 (2), 177–202. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.21072
- Nesse, R. M., & Berridge, K. C. (1997). Psychoactive drug use in evolutionary perspective. *Science*, 278(5335), 63–66. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.278.5335.63
- Nesse, R. M., & Schulkin, J. (2019). An evolutionary medicine perspective on pain and its disorders. *Philo*sophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 374(1785), 20190288. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rstb.2019.0288
- Nesse, R. M., & Stein, D. J. (2012). Towards a genuinely medical model for psychiatric nosology. BMC Medicine, 10(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-10-5
- Nesse, R. M., & Stein, D. J. (2019). How evolutionary psychiatry can advance psychopharmacology. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 21(2), 167–175.
- Nesse, R. M., & Williams, G. C. (1994). Why we get sick: The new science of Darwinian medicine. Vintage Books.
- Nettle, D. (2004). Evolutionary origins of depression: A review and reformulation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 81(2), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad. 2003.08.009
- Nettle, D. (2011). Normality, disorder and evolved function: The case of depression. *Maladapting Minds: Philosophy, Psychiatry, and Evolutionary Theory*, 198–215.
- Ohlsson, H., & Kendler, K. S. (2020). Applying causal inference methods in psychiatric epidemiology: A review. JAMA Psychiatry, 77(6), 637. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3758
- Olds, J. (1958). Self-stimulation of the brain: Its use to study local effects of hunger, sex, and drugs. *Science*, *127*(3294), 315–324.
- Painter, D. T., Lessios-Damerow, J., & Laubichler, M. (2021). The evolution of evolutionary medicine. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.3775609

- Panksepp, J. (1998). Affective neuroscience: The foundations of human and animal emotions. Oxford University Press.
- Pardiñas, A. F., Holmans, P., Pocklington, A. J., Escott-Price, V., Ripke, S., Carrera, N., Legge, S. E., Bishop, S., Cameron, D., Hamshere, M. L., Han, J., Hubbard, L., Lynham, A., Mantripragada, K., Rees, E., MacCabe, J. H., McCarroll, S. A., Baune, B. T., Breen, G., et al. (2018). Common schizophrenia alleles are enriched in mutation-intolerant genes and in regions under strong background selection. *Nature Genetics*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0059-2
- Patel, V., Saxena, S., Lund, C., et al. (2018). The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. *Lancet*, 392, 1553–1598.
- Peng, Q., Wilhelmsen, K. C., & Ehlers, C. L. (2021). Common genetic substrates of alcohol and substance use disorder severity revealed by pleiotropy detection against GWAS catalog in two populations. *Addiction Biology*, 26(1), e12877. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb. 12877
- Perlman, R. L. (2005). Why disease persists: An evolutionary nosology. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy*, 8(3), 343–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-005-2655-z
- Perlman, R. L. (2013). Evolution and medicine. Oxford University Press.
- Pfaff, D., Tabansky, I., & Haubensak, W. (2019). Tinbergen's challenge for the neuroscience of behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 201903589. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1903589116
- Pine, D. S. (2007). Research review: A neuroscience framework for pediatric anxiety disorders. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48(7), 631–648. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01751.x
- Plutchik, R. (1970). Emotions, evolution, and adaptive processes. In *Feelings and emotions* (pp. 3–24). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-063550-4.50007-3
- Polimanti, R., & Gelernter, J. (2018). ADH1B: From alcoholism, natural selection, and cancer to the human phenome. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 177(2), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32523
- Power, R. A., Kyaga, S., Uher, R., MacCabe, J. H., Långström, N., Landen, M., McGuffin, P., Lewis, C. M., Lichtenstein, P., & Svensson, A. C. (2013). Fecundity of patients with schizophrenia, autism, bipolar disorder, depression, anorexia nervosa, or substance abuse vs their unaffected siblings. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *70*(1), 22. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2013.268
- Price, J. S. (1967). The dominance hierarchy and the evolution of mental illness. *The Lancet*, 290(7509), 243–246.
- Price, J. S. (2013). An evolutionary perspective on anxiety and anxiety disorders. *New Insights into Anxiety Dis*orders, 1.

- Price, J. S., Sloman, L., Gardner, R., Gilbert, P., & Rohde, P. (1994). The social competition hypothesis of depression. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(3), 309–315.
- Raison, C. L., & Miller, A. H. (2013). The evolutionary significance of depression in Pathogen Host Defense (PATHOS-D). *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(1), 15–37.
- Rantala, M. J., & Marcinkowska, U. M. (2011). The role of sexual imprinting and the Westermarck effect in mate choice in humans. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiol*ogy, 65(5), 859–873.
- Rantala, M. J., Luoto, S., Krams, I., & Karlsson, H. (2018). Depression subtyping based on evolutionary psychiatry: Proximate mechanisms and ultimate functions. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 69*, 603–617. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.10.012
- Ressler, K. J. (2020). Translating across circuits and genetics toward progress in fear- and anxiety-related disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(3), 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020. 20010055
- Richerson, P., Baldini, R., Bell, A., Demps, K., Frost, K., Hillis, V., Mathew, S., Newton, E., Narr, N., Newson, L., et al. (2015). Cultural group selection plays an essential role in explaining human cooperation: A sketch of the evidence. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–71.
- Riso, L. P., du Toit, P. L., Stein, D. J., & Young, J. E. (Eds.). (2007). Cognitive schemas and core beliefs in psychological problems: A scientist-practitioner guide (1st ed.). American Psychological Association.
- Rottenberg, J. (2014). The depths: The evolutionary origins of the depression epidemic.
- Roved, J., Westerdahl, H., & Hasselquist, D. (2017). Sex differences in immune responses: Hormonal effects, antagonistic selection, and evolutionary consequences. *Hormones and Behavior*, 88, 95–105. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.11.017
- Rowell, T. E., Din, N. A., & Omar, A. (2009). The social development of baboons in their first three months. *Journal of Zoology*, 155(4), 461–483. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1968.tb03063.x
- Rozin, P., Haidt, J., & McCauley, C. R. (2008). Disgust. In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, & L. F. Barrett (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (3rd ed., pp. 757–776). Guilford Press.
- Ruse, M. (2017). Social Darwinism. In On human nature (pp. 651–659). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-420190-3.00038-7
- Schulkin, J., & Power, M. (2019). Integrating evolutionary biology into medical education: For maternal and child healthcare students, clinicians, and scientists. Oxford University Press.
- Seligman, M. E., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). Positive psychology: An introduction. In *Flow and the foundations of positive psychology* (pp. 279–298). Springer.
- Shackelford, T. K., & Zeigler-Hill, V. (Eds.). (2017). The evolution of psychopathology. Springer International

Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60576-0

- Shattuck, E. C., & Muehlenbein, M. P. (2015). Human sickness behavior: Ultimate and proximate explanations. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 157(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22698
- Shepher, J. (1971). Mate selection among second generation kibbutz adolescents and adults: Incest avoidance and negative imprinting. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 1(4), 293–307.
- Shepherd, S. V. (Ed.). (2017). *The Wiley handbook of evolutionary neuroscience*. Wiley Blackwell.
- Sieff, D. F. (2019). The death mother as nature's shadow: Infanticide, abandonment, and the collective unconscious. *Psychological Perspectives*, 62(1), 15–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/00332925.2019.1564513
- Siegert, R. J., & Ward, T. (2002). Clinical psychology and evolutionary psychology: Toward a dialogue. *Review* of General Psychology, 6(3), 235–259. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/1089-2680.6.3.235
- Simpson, J. A. (1999). Attachment theory in modern evolutionary perspective. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications* (pp. 115–140). Guilford Press.
- Skuse, D. H. (2000). Imprinting, the X-chromosome, and the male brain: Explaining sex differences in the liability to autism. *Pediatric Research*, 47(1), 9–9. https:// doi.org/10.1203/00006450-200001000-00006
- Sloman, L. (2008). A new comprehensive evolutionary model of depression and anxiety. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 106(3), 219–228.
- Sloman, L., & Price, J. S. (1987). Losing behavior (yielding subroutine) and human depression: Proximate and selective mechanisms. *Ethology & Sociobiology*, 8(3, Suppl), 99–109.
- Smith, J. M., & Szathmáry, E. (1995). The major transitions of evolution. Freeman.
- Smoller, J. W., Andreassen, O. A., Edenberg, H. J., Faraone, S. V., Glatt, S. J., & Kendler, K. S. (2019). Psychiatric genetics and the structure of psychopathology. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24(3), 409–420. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41380-017-0010-4
- Soper, C. A. (2019). Adaptation to the suicidal niche. Evolutionary Psychological Science. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s40806-019-00202-3
- St John-Smith, P., McQueen, D., Edwards, L., & Schifano, F. (2013). Classical and novel psychoactive substances: Rethinking drug misuse from an evolutionary psychiatric perspective. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 28(4), 394–401. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/hup.2303
- Stearns, S. C., & Medzhitov, R. (2016). Evolutionary medicine. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Publishers.
- Stein, D. J. (2006a). Advances in understanding the anxiety disorders: The cognitive-affective neuroscience of "false alarms". *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 18(3), 173–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/10401230600801192

- Stein, D. J. (2006b). Evolutionary psychiatry: Integrating evolutionary theory and modern psychiatry. *Progress* in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 30(5), 765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006. 01.002
- Stein, D. J. (2011). Philosophy of psychopharmacology: Smart pills, happy pills and pepp pills. Cambridge University Press.
- Stein, D. J. (2013). What is a mental disorder? A perspective from cognitive-affective science. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(12), 656–662. https://doi. org/10.1177/070674371305801202
- Stein, D. J., & Bouwer, C. (1997). A neuro-evolutionary approach to the anxiety disorders. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 11(4), 409–429.
- Stein, D. J., & Vythilingum, B. (2007). Social anxiety disorder: Psychobiological and evolutionary underpinnings. CNS Spectrums, 12(11), 806–809. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1092852900015534
- Stein, D. J., Liu, Y., Shapira, N. A., & Goodman, W. K. (2001). The psychobiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder: How important is the role of disgust? *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 3(4), 281–287. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11920-001-0020-3
- Stein, D. J., Seedat, S., Iversen, A., & Wessely, S. (2007). Post-traumatic stress disorder: Medicine and politics. *The Lancet*, 369(9556), 139–144. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0140-6736(07)60075-0
- Stein, D. J., Lund, C., & Nesse, R. M. (2013). Classification systems in psychiatry: Diagnosis and global mental health in the era of DSM-5 and ICD-11. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 26(5), 493–497. https://doi.org/10. 1097/YCO.0b013e3283642dfd
- Stein, D. J., Billieux, J., Bowden-Jones, H., Grant, J. E., Fineberg, N., Higuchi, S., Hao, W., Mann, K., Matsunaga, H., Potenza, M. N., Rumpf, H. M., Veale, D., Ray, R., Saunders, J. B., Reed, G. M., & Poznyak, V. (2018). Balancing validity, utility and public health considerations in disorders due to addictive behaviours. *World Psychiatry*, 17(3), 363–364. https://doi.org/10. 1002/wps.20570
- Strathearn, L., Fonagy, P., Amico, J., & Montague, P. R. (2009). Adult attachment predicts maternal brain and oxytocin response to infant cues. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34(13), 2655–2666. https://doi.org/10. 1038/npp.2009.103
- Striedter, G. F. (2020). Chapter 1 A history of ideas in evolutionary neuroscience. In J. H. Kaas (Ed.), *Evolutionary neuroscience* (2nd ed., pp. 3–16). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-820584-6. 00001-5
- Sullivan, R. J., & Hagen, E. H. (2002). Psychotropic substance-seeking: Evolutionary pathology or adaptation? *Addiction*, 97(4), 389–400. https://doi.org/10. 1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00024.x
- Susser, E., & Patel, V. (2014). Psychiatric epidemiology and global mental health: Joining forces. *International*

Journal of Epidemiology, 43(2), 287–293. https://doi. org/10.1093/ije/dyu053

- Syme, K. L., & Hagen, E. H. (2020). Mental health is biological health: Why tackling "diseases of the mind" is an imperative for biological anthropology in the 21st century. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 171(S70), 87–117. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajpa.23965
- Szymanska, M., Schneider, M., Chateau-Smith, C., Nezelof, S., & Vulliez-Coady, L. (2017). Psychophysiological effects of oxytocin on parent–child interactions: A literature review on oxytocin and parent–child interactions. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 71(10), 690–705. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12544
- Takahashi, M., Singh, R. S., & Stone, J. (2017). A theory for the origin of human menopause. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2016.00222
- Takeno, K. (2016). Stress-induced flowering: The third category of flowering response. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(17), 4925–4934. https://doi.org/10. 1093/jxb/erw272
- Teicher, M. H., & Samson, J. A. (2016). Annual research review: Enduring neurobiological effects of childhood abuse and neglect. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 57(3), 241–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jcpp.12507
- Tinbergen, N. (1963). On the aims and methods of ethology. Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie, 20, 410–463.
- Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (1990). The past explains the present: Emotional adaptations and the structure of ancestral environments. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 11(4–5), 375–424.
- Trivers, R. L. (1971). The evolution of reciprocal altruism. *Quarterly Review of Biology*, 46, 35–57.
- Trivers, R. L. (1974). Parent-offspring conflict. *Integrative* and Comparative Biology, 14(1), 249–264.
- Troisi, A., & McGuire, M. T. (2002). Darwinian psychiatry and the concept of mental disorder. *Neuroendocrinol*ogy Letters, 23(Suppl 4), 31–38.
- Trumble, B. C., Stieglitz, J., Blackwell, A. D., Allayee, H., Beheim, B., Finch, C. E., Gurven, M., & Kaplan, H. (2017). Apolipoprotein E4 is associated with improved cognitive function in Amazonian forager-horticulturalists with a high parasite burden. *The FASEB Journal*, 31(4), 1508–1515. https://doi. org/10.1096/fj.201601084R
- Turke, P. W. (2008). Williams's theory of the evolution of senescence: Still useful at fifty. *The Quarterly Review* of *Biology*, 83(3), 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1086/ 590509
- Uricchio, L. H. (2019). Evolutionary perspectives on polygenic selection, missing heritability, and GWAS. *Human Genetics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02040-6
- van Dongen, J., & Boomsma, D. I. (2013). The evolutionary paradox and the missing heritability of schizophrenia. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 162(2), 122–136. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32135

- van Staaden, M. J., Hall, F. S., & Huber, R. (2018). The deep evolutionary roots of 'addiction'. *Journal of Mental Health*, 6.
- Vanderveldt, A., Oliveira, L., & Green, L. (2016). Delay discounting: Pigeon, rat, human – Does it matter? *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Animal Learning and Cognition*, 42(2), 141–162. https://doi.org/10.1037/ xan0000097
- Wakefield, J. C. (1992). The concept of mental disorder: On the boundary between biological facts and social values. *American Psychologist*, 47(3), 373.
- Wakefield, J. C. (2007). The concept of mental disorder: Diagnostic implications of the harmful dysfunction analysis. *World Psychiatry*, 8.
- Weinberger, D. R., & Radulescu, E. (2016). Finding the elusive psychiatric "lesion" with 21st-century neuroanatomy: A note of caution. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 173(1), 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1176/ appi.ajp.2015.15060753
- Wenegrat, B. (1984). Sociobiology and mental disorder: A new view. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Westermarck, E. (1922). *The history of human marriage* (Vol. 2). Allerton Book Company.
- Westneat, D. F., & Fox, C. W. (2010). Evolutionary behavioral ecology. Oxford University Press.
- Whiteford, H. A., Degenhardt, L., Rehm, J., Baxter, A. J., Ferrari, A. J., Erskine, H. E., Charlson, F. J., Norman, R. E., Flaxman, A. D., Johns, N., Burstein, R., Murray, C. J., & Vos, T. (2013). Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: Findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, 382(9904), 1575–1586. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61611-6
- Wierzbicka, A. (2010). The "history of emotions" and the future of emotion research. *Emotion Review*, 2(3), 269–273.
- Willers, L. E. W. G., Vulink, N. C., Denys, D., & Stein, D. J. (2013). The origin of anxiety disorders—an evolutionary approach. In D. S. Baldwin & B. E. Leonard (Eds.), *Modern trends in psychiatry* (vol. 29, pp. 16–23). S. Karger AG. https://doi.org/10.1159/000351919
- Williams, G. C. (1966). Adaptation and natural selection: A critique of some current evolutionary thought. Princeton University Press.
- Williams, G. C., & Nesse, R. M. (1991). The dawn of Darwinian medicine. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 66(1), 1–22.
- Wilson, D. R., & Price, J. S. (2006). Evolutionary epidemiology of endophenotypes in the bipolar spectrum: Evolved neuropsychologic mechanisms of social rank. *Current Psychosis & Therapeutics Reports*, 4(4), 176–180.
- Wolpe, J. (1961). The systematic desensitization treatment of neuroses. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 132, 189–203. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00005053-196103000-00001
- Wolpert, L. (2008). Depression in an evolutionary context. *Philosophy, Ethics, and Humanities in Medicine, 3*(1), 8.

- Wrosch, C., & Heckhausen, J. (2002). Perceived control of life regrets: Good for young and bad for old adults. *Psychology of Aging*, 17(2), 340–350.
- Wrosch, C., & Miller, G. E. (2009). Depressive symptoms can be useful: Self-regulatory and emotional benefits of dysphoric mood in adolescence. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 96(6), 1181.
- Wrosch, C., Scheier, M. F., Miller, G. E., Schulz, R., & Carver, C. S. (2003). Adaptive self-regulation of unattainable goals: Goal disengagement, goal

reengagement, and subjective Well-being. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 29*(12), 1494–1508. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167203256921

- Zampieri, F. (2009). Medicine, evolution and natural selection: An historical overview. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 84(4), 1–23.
- Zeifman, D. M. (2001). An ethological analysis of human infant crying: Answering Tinbergen's four questions. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 39(4), 265–285. https:// doi.org/10.1002/dev.1005